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Selected Financial Data

In millions except per share

Reported GAAP Results1 2007 2008

Net sales 111.0 221.9

Net loss 64.5 7.0

Less Unpaid dividends on cumulative preferred stock 37.2

Net loss available for common shares 101.7 7.0

Loss per share diluted 4.12 0.11

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 24.7 62.5

Long term debt 119.5 69.5

Net cash provided by operating activities 0.7 19.1

Operating Basis Results2 2007 2008 Change

Net sales 175.5 221.9 26%

Gross profit to net sales 47.9% 42.8%

Operating income 2.4 5.7 138%

Operating income excluding non-cash expenses 30.2 25.1 -17%

Reported GAAP Results include results for GFA Brands since the acquisition in May 2007 Because there

were no operations prior to the acquisition full year results are not comparable to prior periods

Operating Basis Results include the operating results of Smart Balance Inc from the date of its acquisition of

GFA Brands and the operating results of GFA Brands prior to the acquisition Management believes that the

presentation of operating basis results provides more useful information because it reflects the performance of

the operating entity in both the current and the prior periods presented The operating basis results should not

be viewed in isolation or as substitute for reported GAAP results reconciliation of operating basis results to

GAAP results are provided in the accompanying 10-K beginning on page 26
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SMART BALANCE INC
April 2009

Dear Fellow Stockholder
ash

am pleased to report that our company had an exceptional year of accomplishment in

2008 In year when the broader economy entered into severe recession our revenue

grew 26% on an operating basis versus 2007 and accelerated to 31% in the second half of

the year In many respects this was remarkable accomplishment but its one of many as

we set the foundation to build the Smart Balance brand to $1 billion in revenue The list of

achievements is long

Grew market share in our core Spreads category by 1.0 share points to 13.6%

recording 28 consecutive quarters of share growth according to Information

Resources Inc

Executed three pricing actions to deal with rapid commodity inflation while main

taining our core consumer base

Launched robust line-up of innovative new products to strengthen and broaden

the appeal of our core category with Buttery Spreads made with extra virgin olive oil

and fortified with Omega-3s

Introduced selection of 50/50 Butter Blend Stick products suitable for cooking and

baking strengthening our offerings for the peak consumption holiday period

Successfully test-marketed Milk fortified with Omega-3s Vitamin and added cal

cium and protein in Florida which we believe has the potential to ultimately reach

.5% share of the $12 billion milk category

Developed strategic partnerships with leading retailers and in doing so increased

our national average items per store to 20

Increased and sharpened our consumer marketing budget from $30 million in 2007

to $43 million in 2008 with the objective of investing more than $175 million in

consumer marketing over the next three years

Launched comprehensive margin improvement program which we believe will add

200-300 basis points of contribution margin by the end of 2009

Significantly upgraded our infrastructure to support growth towards $1 billion in

revenue by installing new enterprise resource planning financial and trade funds

management systems

Transformed our capital structure by converting our preferred shares to common

shares and paying down $50 million in long-term debt while meeting all of our bank

covenants Since the acquisition of GFA Brands in May 2007 we have reduced

long-term debt from $160 million to $70 million

Perhaps most importantly completed the recruitment of the Smart Balance Inc

team 60 employees with deep experience and track records in businesses that

have grown rapidly by leveraging innovative new products and provocative con

sumer insights



This past year was not without its challenges or disappointments Most notably our price

increases lagged the rapid increase in commodity costs significantly compressing gross

margins However with commodity costs abating we believe this headwind may become

tailwind in 2009 returning gross margins to more historical levels

We believe our decision to maintain strong marketing support in the face of increasing

commodity costs and worsening economy not only contributed to our strong top-line

results in 2008 but provided us excellent momentum going into 2009 Our board of directors

has more than 250 years of C-level experience in the consumer package goods industry It

is our experience that companies that continue to aggressively market to the consumer

during recessions perlorm better than those who hunker down during the economic down
turn As result we expect to exit the downturn in an enhanced competitive position

want to thank our dedicated team and board of directors for its tireless effort in 2008 We
delivered on all our key strategic objectives and have set the stage for sustained growth as

we build Smart Balance to $1 billion brand

Best Regards

Stephen Hughes

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We believe that some of the infonnation in this annual report constitutes forward-looking statements You

can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as may expect anticipate contem

plate believe estimate intends and continue or similar words You should read statements that

contain these words carefully because they

discuss future expectations

contain projections of future results of operations or financial condition or

state other forward-looking information

We believe that communicating our expectations to our stockholders is important However there may be

events in the future that we are not able to accurately predict or over which we have no control The risk

factors and cautionary language discussed in this annual report provide examples of risks uncertainties and

events that may cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-

looking statements including among other things our ability to

raise prices as fast as commodity costs increase

introduce and expand distribution of new products

meet marketing and infrastructure needs

meet long-term debt covenants and

continue to grow net sales in competitive environment with rising costs and an increasingly price

sensitive consumer

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements which speak only as

of the date of this report

All forward-looking statements included herein attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety

by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section Except to the extent required by appli

cable laws and regulations we undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect

events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events



PART

Item Business

Background

We were incorporated in Delaware on May 31 2005 under the name Boulder Specialty Brands Inc as

blank check company formed to serve as vehicle for the acquisition of then unidentified operating business

andlor brand in the consumer food and beverage industry

On May 21 2007 we completed merger with GFA Brands Inc GFA which owned and marketed

the Smart Balance line of products among others GFA became our wholly-owned subsidiary After the

merger the corporate name was changed from Boulder Specialty Brands Inc to Smart Balance Inc

Smart Balance or the Company Pursuant to the merger agreement with GFA we paid an aggregate of

$491 million in cash as merger consideration The cash consideration for the merger was funded with cash

from our December 2005 initial public offering the proceeds of private placement and secured debt

financings

Overview of the Company

Smart Balance is marketer of functional food products in the U.S under the Smart Balance and Earth

Balance trademarks Functional food is defined as food or food ingredient that has been shown to affect

specific functions or systems in the body and may play an important role in disease prevention Our signature

spreads products utilize proprietary licensed patented technology that is naturally free of trans fats and

enhances good-to-bad cholesterol ratios We have other product offerings utilizing our heart healthier position

ing and brand leverage including peanut butter cooking oils mayonnaise popcorn and dairy products We

sell Smart Balance products in grocery mass merchandise and convenience stores In the natural food chan

nel we sell similarnatural and organic products under the Earth Balance trademark Our products are

available in all 50 states with little presence
in international markets The Company has limited presence in

the foodservice and industrial channels The Smart Balance line of products was introduced by GFA in 1996

with the launch of its buttery spreads products and has achieved growth in market share every year since Our

market share in the spreads category in 2008 was 13.6% according to Information Resources Inc Smart

Balance outsources its manufacturing and distribution and therefore has limited need for capital expenditures

Information regarding our revenues profits and losses and total assets can be found in our audited finan

cial statements beginning on page F-i of this annual report on Form 10-K

Company Website and SEC Filings

The Companys website is www.smartbalance.com All of our filings with the Securities and Exchange

Commission SEC can be accessed through our website promptly after filing however in the event that

the website is inaccessible we will provide paper copies of our most recent annual report on Form 10-K the

most recent quarterly report on Form i0-Q current reports filed or furnished on Form 8-K and all related

amendments excluding exhibits free of charge upon request These filings are also accessible on the SECs

website at www.sec.gov

Smart Balance Products

The Smart Balance line of products is available in variety of categories formats and sizes in the

supermarket mass merchandise and convenience channels of distribution In 2008 Smart Balance labeled

products represented approximately 88% of sales and our Smart Balance buttery spreads products repre

sented approximately 66% of sales The buttery spreads products are generally available around the United

States while the other products have less distribution at the current time The buttery spreads are available in

bulk and individual serving formats for use in the foodservice and industrial channels

Smart Balance Buttery Spreads and Butter Blend Sticks

Our buttery spreads are made from patented blend of natural oils to help balance fats in the consumers

diet and to help improve the good-to-bad cholesterol ratio when used as part of our food plan and contain no

hydrogenated or partially hydrogenated oils and only trace amounts of trans fatty acids The original buttery



spread has won several awards as the best-tasting product in its category There are number of varieties that

offer different benefits depending on consumers needs Buttery spreads are available in regular light low

sodium and organic versions as well as versions that offer benefits from added Omega-3s per serving and

achieves favorable ratio of Omega-6 to Omega-3 fatty acids Some products use flax oil fish oil plant

sterols and olive oil to achieve desired benefit and taste profiles Smart Balance Butter Blend Stick is 50/50

blend of creamery fresh butter and Smart Balance buttery spread in convenient stick with 28% less satu

rated fat than regular butter It also has versions with special mix of Omega-3s from flax and fish oil

Smart BalanceTM Omega Peanut Butter

This product contains 1000 milligrams of Omega-3s per serving It has no hydrogenated oil no trans

fatty acid and no refined sugar It is made from premium deep-roasted peanuts It is all-natural but does not

need refrigeration and is available in chunky and creamy varieties In early 2009 the Company has introduced

varieties flavored with agave nectar These new varieties have half the added sweeteners of the leading peanut

butter brands and appeal to broader range of consumers

Smart Balance Omega Cooking Oil Cooking Sprays and Shortening

These products are designed for use in cooking baking and salads to aid in avoiding trans fatty acids and

hydrogenated oils They are used for healthier food preparation

Smart Balance Omega Plus Light Mayonnaise

This product has half the fat of regular mayonnaise is non-hydrogenated contains no trans fats and

contains natural plant sterols with added Omega-3s and 3-to-i ratio of Omega-3 to Omega-6 fatty acids

Smart Balance Popcorn

This product is the first microwave popcorn with no hydrogenated oil or trans fatty acids with patented

oil blend to help improve the good-to-bad cholesterol ratio Smart Balance Popcorn is available in several

different varieties

Smart Balance Cheese and Smart BalanceTM Cream Cheese

These products offer satisfying cheese flavor and texture with little to no butterfat while keeping healthy

calcium and protein intact It is available in Smart Beat Fat Free Slices Smart Balance Creamy Cheddar

Flavor Slices and Smart Balance Cheese Product Shreds Smart BalanceTM Cream Cheese spread has less

saturated fat and cholesterol than ordinary cream cheese It also has Omega-3s poly- and monounsaturated

fats and is available in regular and light varieties

Smart BalanceTM Milk

Smart BalanceTM Milk uses milk produced from cows not treated with rBST or Beta-Lactam antibiotics

and contains Omega-3s and Vitamin as well as added levels of calcium It is available in Florida and select

markets in the Northeast beginning in 2009 Product varieties are Fat-Free Low Fat Low Fat with Phyto

Sterols Lactose-Free Fat-Free Milk and 1% Low Fat Chocolate versions

Earth Balance Products

The Earth Balance line of products offers variety of buttery spreads and sticks and nut butters formu

lated for consumers interested in natural and organic products Earth Balance products represented

approximately 7% of sales in 2008 They are primarily available in the natural and organic channel of distri

bution and have small but growing presence in traditional retail outlets Earth Balance products are also

marketed with the trademarks Soy Garden and NatucalTM



Industry Overview and Trends

We believe several factors are increasing consumer awareness of nutrition and driving consumer demand

for functional foods including

interest in the relationship between diet and health

increasing health care costs

changes in laws affecting labels and product claims and

an aging population
interested in prolonging life and the quality of life

We believe this consumer demand has resulted in significant changes in the food industry and is the

cause of the substantial growth of the healthy food market generally As Americans have increasingly sought

out new ways to maintain and improve their personal health functional food has played an increasing role in

diets The medical community and food and drink manufacturers are responding to these demands Goods and

services that make claims of contributing to personal health through natural and non-interventionist means are

increasingly available Functional food promotion focuses on enhancing consumer health including slowing

the aging process and preventing disease

Growth Strategy

Our goal is to become recognized leader in providing nutritious and good tasting products for wide

variety of consumer needs We believe that the Smart Balance brand has the potential to become broad

functional foods platform across multiple food categories To accomplish our goal we will attempt to leverage

the heart healthier benefits and other functional attributes of the Smart Balance brand increase brand aware

ness and product distribution and expand our product line

We intend to increase consumer awareness of and demand for our products through our marketing and

promotional activities To make our products available wherever consumers shop we expect to expand our

distribution penetration in retail as well as the food service and industrial channels Although we intend to

focus on the domestic market we will explore longer-term opportunities in foreign markets

Sales and Distribution

Smart Balance products are sold in all 50 states majority of our products are sold through supermar

ket chains and food wholesalers Beginning in September 2007 we utilize Acosta Inc as our national sales

agency Additionally small portion of our products are sold through independent food and beverage

distributors

Through Acosta and our internal regional sales managers we work with each distributor and retailer to

ensure that our products are effectively promoted We employ periodic in-store promotions that can include

informational materials about our products sale pricing product sampling store advertising and special prod

uct displays to generate consumer interest in our products We also work to ensure that enough product is

available on each retailers shelf and that the presentation is attractive to consumers

We use third party
distributors and network of public warehouses to deliver product from our manufac

turers to our customers We are required to pay monthly warehousing fees as well as handling and logistics

fees We are also responsible for freight charges for shipments to and from warehouses and distribution

centers

Smart Balances largest customer in 2008 in terms of sales revenue was Wal-Mart Stores Inc account

ing for approximately 20% of sales dollars No other single customer accounted for more than 10% of Smart

Balances sales revenues in 2008

Marketing

Our marketing efforts are designed to increase consumer awareness of and demand for our products We

target consumers of all ages
who seek to achieve better balance of fats in their diet

Smart Balance employs broad mix of marketing including print cable and network television network

radio coupons in-store product sampling consumer and trade events and recipe and diet programs We use



television advertising to reach larger number of target consumers We use print ads in magazines with wide

circulation and in special interest publications targeted to groups such as health food consumers athletes and

diabetics We also use radio advertising primarily to support event marketing such as Heart Health Month We

use coupons freestanding insert newspaper and magazine coupons and store register and on-pack coupons to

help stimulate product trial and repeat purchases by providing consumers with economic incentives

We believe that an effective marketing tool is the dissemination of educational information through

events and our websites explaining the nutritional qualities of our products Smart Balance is committed to

providing superior service to our customers and consumers Our sales and marketing team gathers information

and feedback from consumers and retailers to enable us to better meet changing consumer needs We provide

access to consumer service representatives through our toll free number to answer questions and educate

consumers on balanced nutrition new products and developments

Manufacturing

Smart Balance outsources its manufacturing through third-party co-packers We do not own or operate

any manufacturing facilities Outsourcing is designed to allow us to enhance production flexibility and capac

ity leverage working capital and focus our energy and resources on marketing and sales while substantially

avoiding capital expenditures and the complication of managing production work force Our buttery spreads

are produced by two manufacturers one of whom has multiple locations Most of our other products are each

supplied by separate sole source In the event of an interruption in supply we believe we could
arrange

for

additional suppliers to provide the affected products although such interruption could have material adverse

effect on our operations While we believe our manufacturers have the capacity to fulfill our current produc

tion needs and are willing to increase capacity as Smart Balance grows we will monitor capacity service and

costs and will qualify alternative sources of supply as needed

Our manufacturers supply our products at price equal to the cost of ingredients and certain packaging

plus contracted toll charge Except in unusual circumstances we provide no raw materials to our manufac

turers However we work with our manufacturers to source high quality ingredients at attractive pricing We
also negotiate certain commodities and packaging costs directly with the suppliers Manufacturers are required

by contract to announce changes in ingredient prices in advance Toll charges cannot be unilaterally increased

by the manufacturers however some manufacturers are able to increase toll charges after giving us notice of

the increase at least six months in advance We bear all freight costs associated with shipping finished

products

From control perspective we provide proprietary formula and processing information for most of our

products to our manufacturers In turn we receive production reports quality control reports and samples

from product runs In addition our research and development and quality control personnel visit each manu
facturing facility on regular basis to ensure compliance with good manufacturing practices

Competition

The food and beverage industry is highly competitive and numerous multinational regional and local

firms currently compete or are capable of competing with us Our products compete with branded products

as well as generic and private-label products of food retailers wholesalers and cooperatives We compete

primarily on the basis of product quality brand recognition brand loyalty service marketing advertising

patent protections and price Some competitors may have different profit or strategic objectives than we do
Substantial advertising and promotional expenditures are required to maintain or improve brands market

position or to introduce new product Our largest principal competitors are Unilever Kraft Foods and

ConAgra Foods each of whom has substantially greater market presence longer operating histories better

distribution more significant customer bases and greater financial marketing capital and other resources than

we do



Intellectual Property

In 1996 GFA licensed technology from Brandeis University relating to the use of balanced proportion

of saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids from one or more vegetable oil sources for incorporation in food

products to increase HDL and the HDL/LDL cholesterol ratio Our agreement with Brandeis provides us with

an exclusive license to this technology which includes the following patents and applications

Patent No 5578334 US increasing the HDL level and the HDLILDL ratio in human serum

with fat blends

Patent No 5843497 US increasing the HDL level and the HDL/LDL ratio in human serum by

balancing saturated and polyunsaturated dietary fatty acids

Patent No 5874117 US blends of palm fat and corn oil provide oxidation-resistant shortenings

for baking and frying

Patent No 6630192 US increasing the HDL level and the HDL/LDL ratio in human serum by

balancing saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids

Patent No 7229653 US increasing the HDL level and the HDLILDL ratio in human serum by

balancing saturated and polyunsaturated dietary fatty acids

Patent No 2173545 Canada increasing the HDL level and the HDLILDL ratio in human serum

by balancing saturated and polyunsaturated dietary fatty acids and

Patent No EP 820 307 Germany France Great Britain Netherlands and

Sweden increasing the HDL level and the HDL/LDL ratio in human serum by balancing satu

rated and polyunsaturated dietary fatty acids

The license also covers any corresponding foreign patents and subsequent U.S or foreign applications

and any continuations continuations-in-part divisions and re-issues The license will terminate with

respect to the patents described above on April 2015 which is when the patents expire with respect to

any other patent upon the expiration of the patent and with respect to unpatented technology on June 18

2013

We are required to pay royalties to Brandeis for the use of the licensed technology Royalties for 2008

totaled approximately $0.8 million The amount of royalties due is based on formula using the percentage of

oil and/or fat used in products covered by the licensed technology

We are required to pay royalties to an individual who assigned certain concept relative to peanut butter

to us for which patent is pending In 2008 royalties totaled approximately $0.2 million to that individual

On March 18 2008 the United States Patent and Trademark Office issued U.S Patent No 7344747 encom

passing the peanut butter concept The patent will expire on January 24 2026

We have acquired the rights from Brandeis for the use of certain technology embodied in U.S Patent

No 6156354 entitled Hyper-absorption of vitamin dispersed in milks and U.S Patent No 6503545

entitled Hyper-absorption of vitamin combined with milk protein

In 2008 GFA licensed technology from Perlman Consulting LLC relating to the stabilization of omega-3

fatty acids in milk Our agreement with Perlman Consulting LLC provides us with an exclusive license to this

technology The license also includes any corresponding foreign patents
and subsequent U.S or foreign appli

cations and any continuations continuations-in-part divisions and re-issues We are required to pay royalties

to Penman Consulting LLC for the use of the licensed technology The amount of royalties due is based on

the net sales of products covered the licensed technology

In 2008 we entered into multi-year agreement with Brandeis to fund research to develop new product

technologies for existing and future categories Under the agreement $1 million will be paid over ten years

with an option to increase funding The bulk of support $650000 will be paid over the first three years In

return Smart Balance will receive an option to license any of the resulting technologies for use in its prod

ucts In addition to the $1 million Smart Balance has committed $500000 to support new food technologies

under new license agreement



We are allowed to sublicense the licensed technology to third parties and must pay portion of the

sublicense fees to Brandeis

We also own Patent No 5147134 for process for the continuous production of emulsions used in the

blending of ingredients and Patent No 5027901 for method minimizing the corrosion of machinery via

emulsions

In 2007 three parties filed Oppositions to European Patent No 820307 We believe that neither this

proceeding nor its outcome will have any adverse effect on our current business

See Item Legal Proceedings for information on litigation involving patents licensed by us

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

The manufacturing packaging labeling advertising distribution and sale of our products are subject to

regulation by various government agencies principally the FDA The FDA regulates our products pursuant to

the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act which we refer to as the FDCA and the Fair Packaging and

Labeling Act which we refer to as the FPLA and regulations thereunder The FDCA is intended among other

things to ensure that foods and beverages are wholesome safe to eat and drink and produced under sanitary

conditions and that food and beverage labeling is truthful and not deceptive The FPLA provides requirements

for the contents and placement of information required on consumer packages to ensure that labeling is useful

and informative Our products are generally classified and regulated as food and beverage under the FDCA

and are therefore not subject to premarket approval by the FDA However our products are subject to the

comprehensive labeling and safety regulations of the FDA the violation of which could result in product

seizure and condemnation injunction of business activities or criminal or civil penalties Furthermore if the

FDA determines on the basis of labeling promotional claims or marketing by us that the intended use of

any of our products is for the diagnosis cure mitigation treatment or prevention of disease it could regulate

those products as drugs and require among other things premarket approval for safety and efficacy

Our advertising is subject to regulation by the FTC pursuant to the Federal Trade Commission Act
which we refer to as the FTCA which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices including the dissemina

tion of false or misleading advertising Violations of the FTCA may result in cease and desist order

injunction or civil or criminal penalties The FTC monitors advertising and entertains inquiries and complaints

from competing companies and consumers It also reviews referrals from industry self-regulatory organiza

tions including the National Advertising Division of the Council of Better Business Bureaus Inc The NAD
administers voluntary self-regulatory alternative dispute resolution

process
that is supported by the advertis

ing industry and serves the business community and the public by fostering truthful and accurate advertising

Any future NAD inquiries or FTC actions that result in modifications to our advertising or the imposition of

fines or penalties could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial

condition

Our activities are also regulated by various agencies of the states localities and foreign countries in

which our products are sold In addition we have been and will be required to re-formulate our products to

comply with foreign regulatory standards

We believe that we presently comply in all material respects with the foregoing laws and regulations

There can be no assurance however that future compliance with such laws or regulations will not have

material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

We may be subject to additional laws or regulations administered by the FDA or other federal state or

foreign regulatory authorities the repeal of laws or regulations or more stringent interpretations of current

laws or regulations from time to time in the future We cannot predict the nature of such future laws regula

tions interpretations or applications nor can we predict what affect additional government regulations or

administrative orders when and if promulgated would have on our business in the future Such laws could

however require the reformulation of products the recall withholding or discontinuance of products the

imposition of additional recordkeeping requirements the revision of labeling advertising or other promotional

materials and changes in the level of scientific substantiation needed to support claims Any or all such

government actions could have material adverse effect on our business results of operation and financial

condition



Employees

Because we outsource the production and distribution of our products as well as certain selling activities

we have small number of employees As of December 31 2008 we had 60 full and part time employees

Our plan is to add more employees as business conditions dictate Our employees perform the following

functions

general management

finance and accounting

sales marketing and customer service and

operations quality controllquality assurance and research and development

Item 1A Risk Factors

Risks Relating to Our Acquisition of GFA

If third parties bring claims against us or if GFA has breached any of its representations warranties or

covenants set forth in the merger agreement we will not be indemnified for any losses arising therefrom

The merger agreement for our acquisition of GFA provides that the GFA former stockholders have no

obligation to indemnify us for losses arising from breach of the representations or warranties by GFA set

forth in the merger agreement other than claims for fraud and all representations and warranties of GFA

expired at closing

Risks Associated with Our Business

If we fail to meet our obligations under our principal license agreement with Brandeis University we may

lose our rights to key technologies on which our business depends

Approximately 73% of our sales for the year ended December 31 2008 were dependent upon our princi

pal license of certain technology from Brandeis University The licensed technology covers all Smart Balance

spreads cheeses shortenings and popcorn all Earth Balance spreads and shortenings and Nucoa soft

margarine The license agreement imposes obligations upon us such as payment obligations and obligations to

diligently pursue
the development of commercial products under the licensed patents If the licensor believes

that we have failed to meet our obligations under the license agreement the licensor could seek to limit or

terminate our license rights which could lead to costly and time-consuming litigation and potentially loss

of the licensed rights During the period of any such litigation our ability to continue to sell existing products

and to carry out the development and commercialization of potential products could be materially adversely

affected If our license rights are restricted or ultimately lost we could be forced to re-formulate all of the

affected products noted above and refrain from making any
cholesterol ratio improvement claims on our

packaging consumer advertising and promotion materials We could also lose the ability to sub-license and

receive sub-license fees for the Brandeis technology Sub-licensing fees accounted for approximately

$0.2 million in income in 2008 It is difficult to accurately quantify the economic impact on us if we defaulted

under our license agreement except to conclude that our ability to continue our business could be severely

adversely affected The license agreement is schedule to terminate when the underlying patents in each coun

try expire The license agreement in the United States will expire in April 2015

Our business depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property effectively Our inability to protect

our intellectual property could harm the value of our brand and adversely affect our business

Our business depends substantially on the legal protection of proprietary rights in intellectual property

that we own and license We also claim proprietary rights in various unpatented technologies know-how trade

secrets and trademarks relating to our products and manufacturing processes Our ability to implement our

business plan depends in part on our ability to expand brand recognition using trademarks service marks

trade dress and other proprietary intellectual property including our name and logos If existing contractual

measures fail to protect our proprietary rights or if any third party misappropriates or infringes on our intel

lectual property any advantage those proprietary rights provide may be negated and the value of our brands



may be harmed which could have material adverse effect upon our business and might prevent our brands

from achieving or maintaining market acceptance Monitoring infringement of intellectual property rights is

difficult and we cannot be certain that the precautions we have taken will prevent the unauthorized use of our

intellectual property and know-how particularly in countries where we do not have trademarks or patents at

all or where the laws of such country may not protect our proprietary rights as adequately as the laws of the

United States or at all Accordingly other parties including competitors may duplicate our products using our

proprietary technologies

Pursuing legal remedies against persons infringing on our patents or otherwise improperly using our

proprietary information is costly and time-consuming process that would divert managements attention and

other resources from the conduct of our business which could cause delays and other problems with the

marketing and sales of our products as well as delays in deliveries GFA has commenced legal actions against

third parties infringing on the patents in the past There can be no assurances that we will not encounter other

claims with respect to prior users of intellectual property relating to our products If so this could harm our

image brand or competitive position and cause us to incur significant penalties and costs such as having

patent invalidated or limited in its applicability

We rely on combination of common law trademark rights U.S federal registration rights and trade

secret laws to protect our proprietary rights We use the term smart balance in our trade name and in our

current product line names The terms smart and balance and variations thereof are widely used for many

food and beverage products other than those sold by us Such widespread use may weaken our trademark

rights and may dilute any unique or distinctive significance the term smart balance may have as means of

identifying our products There can be no assurance that we will be able to enforce our trademark rights for

current products or register trademarks or obtain common law trademark rights using smart balance for any

new product lines we may introduce On April 2007 Kellogg North America Company filed Notice of

Opposition before the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board opposing our registration application for the Smart

Balance Omega mark for use with peanut butter breakfast cereal cereal based snack foods oatmeal pro
cessed oats mayonnaise salad dressings and tartar sauce Kellogg North America Company agreed to

withdraw the opposition in exchange for our removing breakfast cereal cereal based snack foods oatmeal and

processed oats from the registration On July 10 2008 the opposition was dismissed without prejudice In

addition in 2007 three parties filed Oppositions to European Patent No 820307 relating to increasing the

HDL level and the HDLILDL ratio in Human Serum by Balancing Saturated and Polyunsaturated Dietary

Fatty Acids We believe that neither this proceeding nor its outcome will have any adverse effect on our

current business The inability to have the exclusive right to use of the term Smart Balance in new product

names could weaken our ability to create strong Smart Balance brand in existing and new product

categories

Common law trademark rights do not provide the same level of protection as afforded by the United

States federal registration of trademark Common law trademark rights are limited to the geographic area in

which the trademark is actually used plus reasonable zone of future expansion while U.S federal registra

tion on the Principal Register provides the registrant with superior rights throughout the United States subject

to certain exceptions

To the extent that we have registered our trademarks in foreign jurisdictions where our products are or

may be sold the protection available in such jurisdictions may not be as extensive as the protection available

in the United States In some countries we may be unable to register the Smart Balance trademark for the

products that we may want to sell in that country which could adversely affect our ability to expand into such

country



substantial portion of our revenues are derived from the sales of our Smart Balance buttery spreads

products and our future ability to maintain and grow our revenues depends upon continued sales of these

products Any adverse developments with respect to the sale of Smart Balance buttery spreads products

could sign jficantly reduce revenues and have material adverse affect on our ability to remain profitable

and achieve future growth

Approximately 66% of our revenues for the year ended December 31 2008 resulted from sales of our

Smart Balance buttery spreads products We cannot be certain that we will be able to continue to commer

cialize our products or that any of our products will continue to be accepted in their markets Specifically the

following factors among others could affect market acceptance of Smart Balance buttery spreads products

the introduction of new products into the functional food market

the level and effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts

any unfavorable publicity regarding these products or similarproducts

litigation or threats of litigation with respect to these products

the price of the product relative to other competing products

any changes in government policies and practices

regulatory developments affecting the manufacture marketing or use of these products

new technology which effectively renders our buttery spreads obsolete

new science or research which undermines the efficacy of our products and

adverse decisions or rulings limiting our ability to promote the benefits of our products and

technology

Any adverse developments with respect to the sale of Smart Balance buttery spreads products could

significantly reduce revenues and have material adverse effect on our ability to maintain profitability and

achieve our business plan

We have no long-term contracts with our customers which require the purchase of minimum amount of

our products The absence of long-term contracts could result in periods during which we must continue to

pay costs and service indebtedness without current revenues or with reduced revenues

As is generally the case in the retail consumer goods industry our customers do not provide us with firm

long-term volume purchase commitments As result of the absence of the long-term contracts we could have

periods during which we have no or only limited orders for our products but we will continue to have to pay

the costs to maintain our work force and service our indebtedness without the benefit of current revenues or

with reduced revenues We cannot assure that we will be able to timely find new customers to supplement

periods where we experience no or limited purchase orders or that we can recover fixed costs as result of

experiencing reduced purchase orders Periods of no or limited purchase orders for our products could have an

adverse affect on our net income cause us to incur losses or violate our bank covenants

We are dependent on relatively small number of significant customers and the loss of significant

customer or significant reduction in purchase volume by any such customer could have material adverse

affect on our revenues and net income

limited number of supermarket chains and food wholesalers account for substantial portion of our

revenues Smart Balances ten largest customers accounted for approximately 63% of sales in 2008 Our

customers typically purchase our products with standard purchase orders and in general are not bound by

long-term contracts There can be no assurance that our customers will continue their relationships with us In

addition there is no assurance that our customers will not reduce our shelf space continue to carry the same

number of our products or shelve our new products significant reduction or loss in purchase volume from

Wal-Mart Stores Inc or other major customers could have material adverse effect on Smart Balances

business results of operations and financial condition
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We are dependent on third-party manufacturers and the loss of manufacturer or the inability of

manufacturer to fulfill our orders or to maintain the quality of our products could adversely affect our

ability to make timely deliveries of product or result in product recalls

Smart Balance does not own or operate any manufacturing facilities and is dependent on third parties for

the manufacture of its products We currently rely on and may continue to rely on two manufacturers to

produce all of our spreads If either of our two major manufacturers were unable or unwilling to produce our

products in timely manner or to produce sufficient quantities to support our growth if any we would have

to identify and qualify new manufacturers As we expand our operations we may have to seek new manufac

turers and suppliers or enter into new arrangements with existing ones However only limited number of

manufacturers may have the ability to produce high volume of our products and it could take significant

period of time to locate and qualify such alternative production sources In addition we may encounter diffi

culties or be unable to negotiate pricing or other terms as favorable as those we currently enjoy There can be

no assurance that we would be able to identify and qualify new manufacturers in timely manner or that such

manufacturers could allocate sufficient capacity in order to meet our requirements which could adversely

affect our ability to make timely deliveries of product In addition there can be no assurance that the capacity

of our current manufacturers will be sufficient to fulfill our orders and any supply shortfall could materially

and adversely affect our business results of operations and financial condition Currently some of our prod

ucts are produced by single third party source maintaining only one facility The risks of interruption

described above are exacerbated with respect to these single source single facility manufacturers

Shipments to and from the warehouses could be delayed for variety of reasons including weather

conditions strikes and shipping delays Any significant delay in the shipments of product would have

material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition and could cause our sales

and earnings to fluctuate during particular period or periods We have from time-to-time experienced and

may in the future experience delays in the production and delivery of product

Our manufacturers are required to maintain the quality of our products and to comply with our codebook

specifications and requirements for certain certifications In addition our manufacturers are required to comply

with all federal state and local laws with respect to food safety There can be no assurance that our manufac

turers will continue to produce products that are consistent with our standards or in compliance with

applicable laws We have occasionally received and may from time to time receive shipments of products

that fail to conform to our standards The failure of any manufacturer to produce products that conform to our

standards could materially and adversely affect our reputation in the marketplace and result in product recalls

product liability claims and severe economic loss

Changes in consumer preferences and discretionary spending may have material adverse effect on our

revenue results of operations and financial condition

The food processing industry in general and the functional food industry in particular are subject to

changing consumer trends demands and preferences Trends within the functional food industry change often

and our failure to anticipate identify or react to changes in these trends could among other things lead to

reduced demand and price reductions and could have material adverse effect on our business results of

operations and financial condition These changes might include consumer demand for new products or formu

lations that include health-promoting ingredients such as nutraceuticals In 2008 we increased our prices on

multiple occasions in order to maintain pace with the rising costs of commodities There can be no assurance

that these price increases will not result in loss of customers Our success depends in part on our ability to

anticipate the tastes and dietary habits of consumers and to offer products that appeal to their preferences on

timely and affordable basis

The Company performance may be adversely affected by economic and political conditions in the U.S

The Companys performance has been in the past and may continue in the future to be impacted by

economic and political conditions in the United States Such conditions and factors include changes in appli

cable laws and regulations including changes in food and drug laws accounting standards taxation

requirements and environmental laws Other factors impacting our operations include recessionary conditions

the performance of businesses in hyperinflationary environments terrorist acts and political unrest Such

changes could materially and adversely affect our financial results
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We rely primarily upon one distributor to deliver our spreads products and the inability of that distributor

to make timely deliveries or support our growth could adversely affect our revenues and net income

We currently use and we may continue to use one distributor to deliver significant portion of our

spreads products from the third-party manufacturers to customers If the distributor were unable or unwilling

to deliver such products in timely manner or to support our growth if any we would have to identify and

qualify new distributors There can be no assurance that we would be able to identify and qualify new dis

tributors in timely manner which could adversely affect our ability to make timely deliveries of our

products We continue to evaluate alternative options to our current distribution system

Deterioration in U.S and global financial markets may have material adverse impact on our third-party

manufacturers suppliers distributors and customers which could result in material adverse effect on our

revenue results of operations and financial condition

The recent unprecedented deterioration in the U.S and global credit markets and the financial services

industry may negatively impact us in several ways For instance market turmoil and tightening of credit as

well as the recent and dramatic decline in the housing market has led to lack of consumer confidence and

widespread reduction of business activity generally As result one or more of our manufacturers suppliers

distributors and customers may be experiencing cash flow problems and therefore such manufacturers sup

pliers distributors and customers may be forced to reduce their output shut down their operations or file for

bankruptcy protection which in some cases would make it difficult for us to continue production of certain

products reduce sales of our products or result in uncollectable accounts receivable Financial difficulties or

solvency problems at these manufacturers suppliers and distributors could materially adversely affect their

ability to supply us with products which could disrupt our operations It may be difficult to find replacement

for certain manufacturers suppliers or distributors without significant delay or increase in cost

We currently rely on two manufacturers to produce all of our spreads and one distributor to deliver

significant portion of our spreads Our spreads manufacturers and single distributor cannot be quickly or

inexpensively replaced by another manufacturer or distributor due to the limited number of available manufac

turers and distributors that are capable of producing and transporting high volume of our spreads products

and potentially long lead times Such risks of interruption described above are exacerbated with respect to the

manufacturing and distribution of our spreads because of the small number of firms capable of replacing them

in timely fashion

We do not expect that the difficult economic conditions are likely to improve significantly in the near

future and any continuation or worsening of the credit crisis or even the fear of such development could

intensify the adverse effects of these difficult market conditions Any interruption with our manufacturing

supply chain or distribution for any reason including but not limited to financial distress natural disaster or

production difficulties could substantially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

Fluctuations in various food and supply costs could adversely affect our operating results

Our manufacturers obtain most of the key ingredients used in our products from third-party suppliers As

with most food products the availability and cost of raw materials used in our products can be affected by

number of factors beyond our control such as general economic conditions affecting growing decisions

weather conditions such as frosts drought and floods and plant diseases pests and other acts of nature

Because we do not control the production of raw materials we are also subject to delays caused by interrup

tion in production of materials based on conditions not within our control Such conditions include job actions

or strikes by employees of suppliers weather crop conditions transportation interruptions natural disasters or

other catastrophic events There can be no assurance that our manufacturers will be able to obtain alternative

sources of raw materials at favorable prices or at all if any of them experience supply shortages In some

instance we enter into forward purchase commitments to hedge the costs of projected commodity require

ments needed to produce our finished goods These commitments are stated at firm price or as discount or

premium from future commodity price and are placed with our manufacturers There can be no assurance

that our hedging commitments will result in having the lowest available cost for the commodities used in our

products The inability of our manufacturers to obtain adequate supplies of raw materials for our products at

favorable prices or at all as result of any of the foregoing factors or otherwise could cause an increase in
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our cost of sales and corresponding decrease in gross margin or cause our sales and earnings to fluctuate

from period to period Such fluctuations and decrease in gross margin could have material adverse effect on

our business results of operations and financial condition

Our advertising is regulated for accuracy and if our advertising is determined to be false or misleading we

may face fines or sanctions

Our advertising is subject to regulation by the Federal Trade Commission under the Federal Trade Com

mission Act which prohibits dissemination of false or misleading advertising In addition the National

Advertising Division of the Council of Better Business Bureaus Inc which we refer to as NAD administers

self-regulatory program of the advertising industry to ensure truth and accuracy in national advertising

NAD both monitors national advertising and entertains inquiries and challenges from competing companies

and consumers Should our advertising be determined to be false or misleading we may have to pay damages

withdraw our campaign and possibly face fines or sanctions which could have material adverse affect on

our sales and operating results

Adverse publicity or consumer concern regarding the safety and quality of food products or health

concerns whether with our products or for food products in the same food group as our products may

result in loss of sales

We are highly dependent upon consumers perception of the safety quality and possible dietary benefits

of our products As result substantial negative publicity concerning one or more of our products or other

foods and beverages similar to or in the same food group as our products could lead to loss of consumer

confidence in our products removal of our products from retailers shelves and reduced sales and prices of our

products Any of these events could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and

financial condition

If we conduct operations in market segment that suffers loss in consumer confidence as to the safety

and quality of food and beverage products our business could be adversely affected The food industry has

recently been subject to negative publicity concerning the health implications of genetically modified organ

isms obesity trans fatty acids diacetyl mad cow disease avian flu and bacterial contamination such as

samonella Developments in any of these areas including but not limited to negative perception about our

proprietary formulations could cause our operating results to differ materially from expected results Any of

these events could harm our sales and our operating results perhaps significantly

Risks Related to the Food and Beverage Industries

Our business operations may be subject to numerous laws and governmental regulations exposing us to

potential claims and compliance costs that could adversely affect our operations

Manufacturers and marketers of food and beverage products are subject to extensive regulation by the

Food and Drug Administration which we refer to as the FDA the United States Department of Agriculture

which we refer to as the USDA and other national state and local authorities For example the Food Drug

and Cosmetic Act and its regulations govern among other things the manufacturing composition and ingredi

ents packaging and safety of foods and beverages Under this act the FDA regulates manufacturing practices

for foods and beverages through its current good manufacturing practices regulations and imposes ingredi

ent specifications and requirements for many foods and beverages Additionally the USDA has adopted

regulations with respect to national organic labeling and certification program Food and beverage manufac

turing facilities and products are also subject to periodic inspection by federal state and local authorities Any

changes in laws and regulations applicable to food and beverage products could increase the cost of develop

ing and distributing our products and otherwise increase the cost of conducting our business which would

adversely affect our financial condition In addition if we fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations

including future laws and regulations we may be subject to civil remedies including fines injunctions recalls

or seizures as well as potential criminal sanctions any of which could have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition results of operations or liquidity
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We may be subject to significant liability should the consumption of any of food or beverage products

manufactured or marketed by us cause injury illness or death Regardless of whether such claims against

us are valid they may be expensive to defend and may generate negative publicity both of which could

adversely affect our operating results

The sale of food and beverage products for human consumption involves the risk of injury to consumers

Such injuries may result from tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination or spoilage

including the presence of bacterial contamination foreign objects substances chemicals other agents or

residues introduced during production processes Although we believe that we and our manufacturers are in

material compliance with all applicable laws and regulations if the consumption of our products causes or is

alleged to have caused an illness in the future we may become subject to claims or lawsuits relating to such

matters Even if product liability claim is unsuccessful or is not fully pursued the negative publicity sur

rounding an illness injury or death could adversely affect our reputation with existing and potential customers

and our corporate image and operating results Moreover claims or liabilities of this nature might not be

covered by insurance or by any rights of indemnity or contribution that we may have While we have product

liability insurance coverage in amounts we believe to be adequate we cannot be sure that claims or liabilities

will be asserted for which adequate insurance will be available or that such claims or liabilities will not

exceed the available amount of insurance coverage

Our food or beverage products may also experience product tampering contamination or spoilage or be

mislabeled or otherwise damaged Under certain circumstances product recall could be initiated leading to

material adverse effect on our reputation operations and operating results Recalls though not mandated by

the Food Drug and Cosmetic Act may be required nonetheless to avoid seizures or civil or criminal litigation

Even if such situation does not necessitate recall product liability claims could be asserted against us

products liability judgment or product recall involving us could have material adverse effect on our busi

ness financial condition results of operations or liquidity

We are also heavily dependent on our manufacturers for compliance with sound and lawful production of

our products Therefore even if we have adequate insurance or contractual indemnification product liabilities

relating to defective products could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations

liquidity financial condition and brand image

Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or whether we are ultimately held liable claims

may be expensive to defend and may divert time and money away from our operations which could have

detrimental effect on our performance judgment that is significantly in excess of our insurance coverage for

any claims could materially and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations Any adverse

publicity resulting from these allegations may also materially and adversely affect our reputation which could

adversely affect our results

The food processing industry has been subject to growing number of claims based on the nutritional

content of food products as well as disclosure and advertising practices We may also be subject to this type

of proceeding in the future and even if not publicity about these matters particularly directed at the quick-

service and fast-casual segments of the industry may harm our reputation and adversely affect our results

Slotting fees and customer charges or charge-backs for promotion allowances cooperative advertising and

damaged undelivered or unsold food or beverage products may have significant impact on our operating

results and may disrupt customer relationships on which we depend

Retailers in the grocery industry charge slotting fees for access to shelf space and often enter into promo
tional and advertising arrangements with distributors and manufacturers that result in the sharing of

promotional and advertising costs among the retailer distributor and/or manufacturer As the retail grocery

industry has consolidated retailers have sought greater participation by distributors and manufacturers in

cooperative promotional and advertising arrangements and are more inclined to pass on unanticipated

increases in promotional and advertising costs to distributors and manufacturers Additionally retailers are

exhibiting greater willingness to take deductions for damaged undelivered and unsold products or to return

unsold products to distributors and manufacturers The vast majority of distributors including us and manu

facturers sell their food and beverage products to retailers without right of return however the presence of

only small number of retailers may have the practical effect of requiring distributors and manufacturers to
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accept returns even if their policies do not obligate them to do so If we are charged significant and unantici

pated promotional allowances or advertising charges by retailers or if our customers take substantial

charge-backs or return material amounts of food or beverage products our operating results and liquidity

could be harmed substantially Moreover an unresolved disagreement with retailer concerning promotional

allowances advertising charges charge-backs or returns could significantly disrupt or cause the termination of

customer relationship immediately reducing our sales and liquidity Because of the limited number of

retailers in the U.S grocery market the loss of even single retailer could have long-term negative impact

on our financial condition and revenues

Changes in retail distribution arrangements can result in the temporary loss of retail shelf space and

disrupt sales of food or beverage products which could cause our sales to fall

From time to time retailers change distribution centers that supply some of their retail stores or change

sales agencies that are responsible for stocking and maintaining food and beverage products in parts
of their

stores If new distribution center has not previously distributed our products in that region or if sales

agency is not familiar with our products there will be delay in distribution centers ability to begin dis

tributing new products in its region or to arrange for sales agency to represent and stock our products Even

if retailer approves the distribution of products in new region product sales may decline while the transi

tion in distribution or sales arrangements takes place If we do not get approval to have our products offered

in new distribution region or if getting this approval takes longer than anticipated our operating results may
suffer Likewise if we cannot establish relationship with sales agent to stock food or beverage products in

one or number of stores or if we temporarily lose shelf
space during the time it takes to do so our sales

may decline

Risks Relating to Our Secured Debt Financing

Our secured debt financing has resulted in substantial leverage Our ability to service and refinance the

debt may be limited which could force us to reduce or delay advertising and promotional expenditures

restructure our indebtedness or seek additional equity capitaL

As part of the merger with GFA we obtained secured loans in the amount of $180 million including

$20 million revolving credit facility As of December 31 2008 we have outstanding approximately

$70 million of secured debt

The level of our indebtedness could have important consequences to our stockholders including

substantial portion of our cash flow from operations must be dedicated to debt service and will not

be available for other purposes including the declaration and payment of cash dividends

our ability to obtain additional debt financing in the future for working capital capital expenditures

or acquisitions may be limited and

our level of indebtedness could limit our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the

industry and economic conditions generally

Our ability to pay interest and principal on the secured debt financing will depend upon our future oper

ating performance which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial business and other

factors many of which are beyond our control In addition due to the recent unprecedented deterioration in

the U.S and global credit markets and the financial services industry our ability to pay interest and principal

on the secured debt financing may depend on our customers financial stability and their ability to pay us for

their purchases in timely fashion or at all Any significant default or delay in our customers payments could

result in our inability to pay interest and principal on the secured debt financing in timely fashion

We anticipate that our operating cash flow will be sufficient to meet our operating expenses and advertis

ing and promotional expenditures to sustain operations and to service our interest and principal requirements

as they become due If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness and fund our

advertising and promotional expenditures we will be forced to adopt an alternative strategy that may include

reducing or delaying advertising and promotional expenditures restructuring or refinancing our indebtedness

or seeking additional equity capital There can be no assurance that any of these strategies could be effected
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on satisfactory terms if at all Our ability to meet our debt service obligations will be dependent upon our

future performance which in turn is subject to future economic conditions and to financial business and

other factors many of which are beyond our control

If we are obligated for any reason to repay our secured debt financing before the scheduled installment

dates we could deplete our working capital if available or make raising additional funds necessary Our

failure to repay the secured debt financing if required could result in legal action against us which could

materially harm our business

As of December 31 2008 we have outstanding approximately $70 million of secured debt Any event of

default could require the early repayment of the secured debt financing in whole or in part at redemption

premium together with accrued interest on the outstanding principal balance of the secured debt financing and

any other applicable penalties including default interest rate If prior to the maturity date we are required

to repay the secured debt financing in full we would be required to use our limited working capital and raise

additional funds If we were unable to repay the secured debt financing together with the applicable redemp

tion premium and other applicable penalties when required our lenders could commence legal action against

us to recover the amounts due Any such action would be materially harmful to us and could require us to

curtail or cease operations

The loan agreement for the secured debt financing contains covenants that significantly restrict our

operations which may negatively affect our ability to operate our business and limit our ability to take

advantage of potential business opportunities

The loan agreements with respect to the secured debt financing contain numerous covenants imposing

financial and operating restrictions on our business Any other future debt agreements may contain similar

covenants These restrictions may affect our ability to operate our business limit our ability to take advantage

of potential business opportunities as they arise and adversely affect the conduct of our current business

These covenants place restrictions on our ability to among other things

incur more debt or issue certain equity interests

pay dividends redeem or purchase our equity interests or make other distributions

make certain acquisitions or investments

use assets as security in other transactions or otherwise create liens

enter into transactions with affiliates

merge or consolidate with others and

transfer or sell assets including the equity interests of our subsidiary or use asset sale proceeds

Additionally our failure to comply with our debt-related obligations with respect to the secured debt

financing could result in an event of default under the secured debt

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

We have received no written comments regarding our periodic or current reports from the staff of the

Securities and Exchange Commission that were issued 180 days or more preceding December 31 2008 that

remain unresolved

Item Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located at 115 West Century Road Suite 260 Paramus New Jersey

07652 and our telephone number is 201 568-9300 Our corporate headquarters is leased with an approximate

seven year life with two options to extend for additional five
year terms The initial term of the lease expires

in May 2015 The annual rental is approximately $468000 for the first seven years

We also have three lease agreements for the lease of corporate office facility in Niwot Colorado The

leases have an approximate five year
life with the option to extend each lease for 36 months The initial term

of the lease expires in July 2012 The annual rental expense is approximately $128000 for the first five years
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Item Legal Proceedings

In 2007 three parties filed Oppositions to European Patent No 820307 relating to increasing the HDL

level and the HDLILDL ratio in Human Serum by Balancing Saturated and Polyunsaturated Dietary Fatty

Acids We believe that neither this proceeding nor its outcome will have any adverse effect on our current

business

We are not party to any other legal proceeding that we believe would have material adverse effect on

our business results of operations or financial condition

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol SMBL Prior to August

2007 our common stock was traded on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol BDSB

On October 30 2007 we called for redemption all of our outstanding public warrants to purchase com

mon stock As result of the redemption of all of the public warrants the public warrants and units

consisting of one public warrant and one share of common stock ceased to be listed on the Nasdaq Global

Market In addition on January 2008 we forced the conversion of all of the outstanding Series Convert

ible Preferred Stock into approximately 1.27 shares of common stock for each share of Series Convertible

Preferred Stock owned The forced conversion resulted in an increase in the total number of shares of

common stock outstanding by approximately 20 million shares

The following table sets forth for the calendar quarter indicated the quarterly high and low sales prices

of our common stock as quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board for periods presented prior to August 2007

and the Nasdaq Global Market from August 2007 to December 31 2008

Common Stock

High Low

2007 First Quarter 9.65 8.13

2007 Second Quarter $10.80 9.15

2007 Third Quarter $14.10 6.75

2007 Fourth Quarter $13.50 $10.50

2008 First Quarter $11.25 4.85

2008 Second Quarter 9.45 6.85

2008 Third Quarter 8.22 5.18

2008 Fourth Quarter 7.52 4.58

Holders

As of February 23 2009 there were 31 holders of record of our common stock

Dividends

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock to date Our secured debt financing prohibits the

payment of any cash dividends Furthermore the payment of dividends is within the discretion of our board of

directors and our board presently intends to retain all earnings if any for use in our business operations

Accordingly we do not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table displays equity compensation plan information as of December 31 2008 For further

information see note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities Remaining
Number of Securities to Weighted-Average Available for Issuance under

be Issued upon Exercise Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plans

of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Excluding Securities Reflected

Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights in Column

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 10670000 $9.55 1480000

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders 1375000 8.84

Total 12045000 $9.47 1480000

Consists of stock options granted under the Companys Amended and Restated Inducement Award Plan

which permits the Company to award stock options to individuals not previously an employee of the

Company pursuant to Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350
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Item Selected Historical Financial Information

The following is summary of selected financial data of the Company for the period from May 31 2005

inception to December 31 2008 which should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements

of the Company and the notes thereto including the description of the merger with GFA included in Note

and our change in accounting principle discussed in Note 15

Twelve Months Twelve Months Twelve Months May 31 2005
Ended Ended Ended Inception to

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2008 2007 2006 2005

Net sales $221871912 111038295

Cost of goods sold 126903498 58715013
___________

Gross profit 94968414 52323282

Operating expenses

Marketing 33286061 15118184

Selling 17671462 12268066

General and administrative 38317244 17931109

Expenses settled with Founders stock 2359856

Performance based shares released

from escrow 18455815

Formation and operating costs
___________ ____________

1924602 109554

Total operating expenses 89274767 63773174 1924602 2469410

Operating profit loss 5693647 11449892 1924602 2469410

Other income expense

Interest income 291949 2449614 4220026 23742

Interest
expense 9049019 9677881

Loss gain on derivative liability 5132231 45556199 15266445 1808566

Other income expense net 2335752 1019607 ___________

Total other income expense 16225053 53804073 11046419 1832308

Loss before income taxes 10531406 65253965 12971021 637102
Provision benefit for income taxes 3563553 705897 808140

__________
Net loss 6967853 64548068 $13779161 637102

Less Unpaid dividends on cumulative

preferred stock 37159011

Net loss available for common shares 6967853 $101707079 $13779161 637102

Net loss per share basic and diluted 0.11 4.12 0.96 0.16

Weighted average shares outstanding

basic and diluted 62523742 24667344 14355945 4025031

The Company acquired GFA on May 21 2007
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Balance sheet data

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments held in trust restricted

Other current assets

Property and equipment net

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Derivative liabilities

Long-term debt

Other liabilities

Deferred tax liability

Total liabilities

Common stock subject to possible

conversion

Deferred interest income

Series convertible preferred stock

Series convertible preferred

stock par value

Common stock par value

Additional paid in capital

Retained deficit

Total stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders

equity

21390568

119504174

53293528

194188270 40863120

175657474

1539

4311

315479759

78964331

412178752

19661116

432623

1548609

98354755

377060

$100280424

4489516

17018480

1595

59746819

637102

59111312

$100280424

The Company acquired GFA on May 21 2007

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is discussion of the financial condition and results of operations comparing the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 You should read this section together with consolidated financial

statements including the notes to those financial statements for the periods mentioned above which are

included elsewhere in this report

Company Overview

We are consumer food products company that competes primarily in the retail branded food products

industry and focuses on providing value-added functional food products to consumers Functional food is

defined as food or food ingredient that has been shown to affect specific functions or systems in the body

and may play an important role in disease prevention We market buttery spreads popcorn peanut butter

cooking oil mayonnaise and other products primarily under the Smart Balance trademark In the natural food

channel we sell similar natural and organic products under the trademark Earth Balance trademark Our

trademarks are of material importance to our business and are protected by registration or other means in the

United States and number of international markets Our buttery spreads business marketed under Smart

Balance Earth Balance SmartBeat and Nucoa is by far the most developed product segment and

accounted for approximately 75% of 2008 sales

Our products are sold in all 50 states with little international sales presence We sell our products in

mass merchandise grocery
natural food and club stores throughout the U.S with majority of products sold

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2008 20071 2006 2005

569142

101073611

1050620

5492330

26674727

4300642

374885923

155223243

1958736

$568535601

37648754

28786993

1805331

374885923

159645634

3594387

$606367022

3590790

$106284163

8578195

32284925

26017702

5132231

69504174

161711

46268286

147084104 21507996

19661116

6263

507377418

85932184

421451497

$568535601

1595

59741972

14416263

45327304

$106284163$606367022
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through supermarket chains and food wholesalers Our largest customer Wal-Mart Stores Inc and its affili

ates accounted for approximately 20% of consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31 2008

Approximately 73% of our sales utilize proprietary licensed patented technology that enhances good-

to-bad cholesterol ratios uses no hydrogenated or partially hydrogenated oils and has only trace amounts of

trans fats In 1996 Brandeis University licensed to GFA certain technology relating to the use of balanced

proportion of saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids from one or more vegetable oil sources for incorpora

tion in food products to increase HDL and HDL/LDL cholesterol ratio Our agreement with Brandeis provides

us with an exclusive license to number of patents until April 2015 at which time the patents will expire

We also have assignment of several patents with number of our other products In 2008 we entered into

long-term agreement with Brandeis to develop new technologies which if developed provides us the option

to use in our products In addition we have proprietary trade secrets technology know-how processes and

other intellectual
property rights that are not registered

Our primary growth strategy is to continue to drive consumer and trade awareness of our brands increase

distribution of our existing products and continue to launch additional line extensions and new products We

actively advertise via network and cable TV radio coupons and in-store promotions We have also benefited

from favorable trends in the food industry regarding the required labeling of trans fats levels in food products

and increased consumer awareness of the negative health implications of trans fats in foods

We outsource production of finished goods to third-party manufacturers We do not own or operate any

manufacturing facilities Outsourcing is designed to allow us to enhance production flexibility and capacity

leverage working capital and focus our energy and resources on marketing and sales while substantially

reducing capital expenditures and avoiding the complication of managing production work force Our but

tery spreads are produced by two manufacturers one of whom has multiple locations Most of our other

products are each supplied by separate sole source In the event of an interruption in supply we believe we

could arrange for additional suppliers to provide the affected products While we believe our manufacturers

have the capacity to fulfill our current production needs and are willing to increase capacity as we grow we

will monitor capacity service and costs and will qualify alternative sources of supply as needed

Our manufacturers supply our products at price equal to the cost of ingredients and certain packaging

plus contracted toll charge Except in unusual circumstances we provide no raw materials to our manufac

turers However we work with our manufacturers to source high quality ingredients at attractive pricing The

prices paid for raw materials used in our products generally reflect factors such as weather commodity market

fluctuations currency fluctuations tariffs and the effects of governmental agricultural programs Although the

prices of raw materials can be expected to fluctuate as result of these factors we believe such raw materials

to be in adequate supply and generally available from numerous sources We also negotiate certain commodi

ties and packaging costs directly with the suppliers Manufacturers are required by contract to announce

changes in ingredient prices in advance Toll charges cannot be unilaterally increased by the manufacturers

however some manufacturers are able to increase toll charges after giving us notice of the increase at least

six months in advance We bear all freight costs associated with shipping finished products

We use third party distributors and network of public warehouses to deliver product from our manufac

turers to our customers We rely primarily on one third party distributor to deliver all of our spreads and other

refrigerated products All freight costs associated with shipping finished products are borne by us

The food industry is highly competitive and numerous multinational regional and local firms currently

compete or are capable of competing with us Our products compete with branded products as well as

generic and private-label products of food retailers wholesalers and cooperatives We compete primarily on

the basis of product quality brand recognition brand loyalty service marketing advertising patent protec

tions and price Some competitors may have different profit or strategic objectives than we do Substantial

advertising and promotional expenditures are required to maintain or improve brands market position or to

introduce new product Our largest principal competitors are Unilever Kraft Foods and ConAgra Foods

each of whom have substantially greater market presence longer operating histories better distribution more

significant customer bases and greater financial marketing capital and other resources than us
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Results of Operations

We acquired GFA the Companys wholly-owned subsidiary on May 21 2007 Prior to the completion of

the merger on May 21 2007 we were blank check company with no operations Accordingly 2008 was our

first full year of operations As result the results of operations for 2008 do not provide meaningful com

parison with the prior periods because information for the
year

ended December 31 2007 includes GFA

beginning May 21 2007 Information for the period prior to that date relates solely to the Company as

blank check company that had no operations For more meaningful comparison of our operations from

period to period refer to the section entitled Discussion of Results on an Operating Basis included below

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared to the Year Ended December 31
2007 and for the Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared to the Year Ended December 31 2006

Years Ended December 31

in millions except per share 2008 2007 2006

Net Sales $221.9 111.0

Cost of Goods Sold 126.9 58.7
_____

Gross Profit 95.0 52.3

Operating Expenses 89.3 63.8 1.9

Operating Income Loss 5.7 11.5 1.9

Other Income Expenses 16.2 53.7 11.1

Loss before Income Taxes 10.5 65.2 13.0

Provision Benefit for Income Taxes 3.6 0.7 0.8

Net Loss 6.9 64.5 $13.8

Net Loss available to Common Shares 6.9 $l01.7 $13.8

Net Loss Per Common Available Share 0.11 4.12 $0.96

Net Sales

Our net sales for the year ended December 31 2008 was $221.9 million which was our first full year of

operations For the year ended December 31 2007 our net sales were $111.0 million which only includes

GFA sales made after the acquisition We had no net sales in 2006 as we were blank check company with

no operations

Cost of Goods Sold

The cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31 2008 was $126.9 million compared with

$58.7 million for the period from May 21 2007 to December 31 2007 which only includes GFA cost of

goods sold made after the acquisition Gross profit as percentage of net sales was 42.8% in 2008 com

pared to 47.1% in 2007 Significantly higher commodity costs in 2008 accounted for the decline in gross

profit percentage since these costs could not be quickly recovered through price increases

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses which included selling marketing and general and administrative expenses for

the year ended December 31 2008 was $89.3 million compared with $63.8 million for the period from

May 21 2007 to December 31 2007 The operating expenses for 2007 only include GFA expenses after the

date of acquisition Also included in operating expenses were approximately $14.9 million for 2008 and

$6.7 million for 2007 of stock-based compensation expense as determined under Statement of Financial

Reporting Standard SFAS No 123R In addition included in 2007 was the costs associated with the release

from escrow of the founders shares $18.5 million after our common stock closed at or above $11.50 for

twenty out of thirty trading days For the year ended December 31 2006 we had expenses related to the

formation of the Company of $1.9 million

Operating Loss

We had operating income of $5.7 million in 2008 compared with operating losses of $11.5 million and

$1.9 million for the
years

ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively as result of the items mentioned

above
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Other Income Expense

We had other expenses of $16.2 million in 2008 compared with $53.8 million in 2007 and $11.1 million

in 2006 Included in other expenses in 2008 was $5.1 of derivative losses related to the Companys interest

rate swap and net interest expense of $8.8 million Included in the results for 2007 was $45.6 million loss

from derivative liabilities compared to loss in the same period in 2006 of $15.3 million see Accounting

for Warrants Derivative Liability located elsewhere in this Form 10-K Net interest expense was

$8.8 million in 2008 and $7.2 million in 2007 compared with interest income of $4.2 million in 2006 The

increases in net interest expense in 2008 and 2007 were due to the secured debt financing incurred in connec

tion with our acquisition of GFA whereas in 2006 we had interest income from the investment of the IPO

proceeds held in trust during 2006

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31 2008 was benefit of $3.6 million or

33.8% of pre-tax loss The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31 2007 was benefit of

$0.7 million compared with provision of $0.8 million in year ended December 31 2006 The provision or

benefit is based on taxable income which excludes the losses for derivatives except for losses related to our

interest rate swaps in 2008 and the expenses related to performance based founders shares released from

escrow which are not deductible for tax purposes

Net Loss

Our net loss for the year ended December 31 2008 was $7.0 million compared to net loss for the year

ended December 31 2007 of $64.5 million and loss of $13.8 million in the corresponding period in 2006

Net Loss Available to Common Shares

Our net loss available to common shares in 2008 was $7.0 million or $0 11 per share Our net loss

available to common shares in 2007 was $101.7 million which included charge of $37.2 million for the

accrual of dividends on Series convertible preferred stock and was $13.8 million in 2006 Under the terms

of the Series convertible preferred stock the holders of such shares were entitled to at least three years of

dividends compounded quarterly which were payable in additional shares in the event that we forced the

conversion of the shares prior to three years after they were issued On January 2008 we forced the con

version of the Series convertible preferred stock into common shares Accordingly we accrued the value of

these shares to be distributed as the dividend earned at December 31 2007 For both basic and diluted shares

our loss per common shares for 2007 was $4.12 compared with loss in 2006 of $0.96

Cash Flows

The following discussion includes the cash flows of GFA our wholly-owned subsidiary from May 21
2007 through December 31 2008 Prior to the completion of the merger we were blank check company

with no operations Accordingly the cash flows for 2008 do not provide meaningful comparison with the

prior periods

Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared to the Year Ended December 31 2007 and for the Year Ended
December 31 2007 Compared to the Year Ended December 31 2006

Cash provided from operating activities in 2008 was $19.1 million compared to $0.7 million in 2007

This increase was largely due to lower working capital and full year of operations in 2008 after deducting

non-cash charges for stock based compensation of $14.9 million and derivative losses of $5.1 million

Cash provided from operating activities was $0.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007 com

pared to cash provided from operating activities of $2.4 million in the corresponding period in 2006 For the

year ended December 31 2007 we had loss of $64.5 million which included non-cash charges for deriva

tive losses of $45.5 million $6.7 million for stock based compensation expenses and $18.5 million for

performance based founders shares released from escrow Higher working capital needs in 2007 largely offset

the benefit of these non-cash charges including depreciation and deferred income taxes For the year ended

December 31 2006 the cash flow provided by operating activities resulted from interest income which offset

operating expenses
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In 2008 cash used for investing activities of $2.6 million was primarily for the purchase of software

development costs and equipment Cash used in investing activities totaled $388.1 million during the year

ended December 31 2007 which was primarily from our acquisition of GFA of $486.2 million less the

decrease of cash held in trust of $101.1 million In 2006 we had net use of $2.7 million which resulted

from the purchase of treasury bills in excess of the proceeds received

Cash used for financing activities was $48.7 million in 2008 primarily for the repayment of debt of

$50.0 million related to the acquisition of GFA Cash provided by financing activities was $424.4 million for

the year ended December 31 2007 compared to use of $0.7 million for 2006 2007 included the proceeds

from the issuance of our common and preferred stock of $107.5 million and $138.5 million respectively and

the issuance of debt of $160.0 million all of which was issued in conjunction with our acquisition of GFA In

addition in December 2007 we received $76.5 million from the exercise of public warrants of which

approximately $40 million was used to repay debt For 2006 the payment of offering costs accounted for the

use of cash

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

Our liquidity and capital resource planning is largely dependent on the generation of operating cash

flows which is highly sensitive to changes in demand and to lesser extent pricing for our major products

While changes in key operating costs such as outsourced production advertising promotion and distribution

may adversely affect cash flows we generate significant cash flows as demand for our products grows Our

principal liquidity requirements are to finance current operations pay down existing indebtedness and fund

future expansion Currently our primary source of liquidity requirements to meet these needs is cash

generated by operations

We believe that cash flows generated from operations existing cash and cash equivalents and borrowing

capacity under the revolving credit facility should be sufficient to finance working capital requirements for our

business for the foreseeable future As of December 31 2008 $20 million was available for borrowing under

our revolving credit facility Developing and bringing to market other new brands and business opportunities

may require additional outside funding which may require us to seek out additional borrowing arrangements

Secured Debt Financing

In conjunction with the GFA merger on May 21 2007 the Company entered into loan arrangement

with Banc of America Securities LLC and Bank of America N.A for $180 million in secured debt financing

consisting of $140 million first lien facility comprised of $120 million term loan and $20 million

revolver and second lien facility comprised of $40 million term loan The first lien facility is secured

by first lien on all of the Companys assets and the second lien facility is secured by second lien on all of

the Companys assets Through December 31 2008 the Company paid total of $90.5 million consisting of

$60.5 million in principal on its first lien term loan and $30.0 million on its second lien debt During the

third quarter of 2007 the Company made two quarterly principal payment requirements of $300000 During

the fourth quarter of 2007 the Company received approximately $76.5 million from the redemption of its

public warrants The Company used $39.9 million of this amount to prepay
the next eight quarterly principal

payment requirements of $300000 and applied the balance against principal on the first lien term loan During

the first quarter of 2008 the Company used $30.0 million of that amount to pay down the second lien debt

During the third and fourth quarters of 2008 the Company prepaid $5.0 million and $15.0 million respec

tively of the first lien debt using primarily cash flows from operations As result of the prepayments the

Company wrote off approximately $1450000 of deferred financing costs which is included in other income

net for the year
ended December 31 2008 and $1174936 for the year ended December 31 2007

The term loan of the first lien facility will mature on May 21 2014 and the revolving loan under the first

lien facility will mature on May 21 2013 The term loan of the second lien facility will mature on Novem

ber 18 2014

The interest rate on the first lien facility is LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum

beginning July 2007 In accordance with pricing grid based on the Companys leverage ratio the appli

cable margin was reduced to 3.00% per annum beginning March 28 2008 which resulted in an interest rate
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of 4.47% at December 31 2008 The interest rate on the second lien facility is LIBOR plus an applicable

margin of 6.00% per annum beginning July 2007 which resulted in an interest rate at December 31 2008

of 7.47%

The Company uses interest rate swaps to effectively manage interest rate exposure by locking in the

variable interest rate on our debt into fixed rate of 5.05% The Company recognizes the mark-to-market

movement of the interest rate swap in income as the rate changes Through December 31 2008 the Company

realized non-cash loss of $5.1 million which represents the present value of the future quarterly interest

payments through the end of the swap agreement of September 30 2010 based on the difference between the

three month LIBOR floating interest at December 31 2008 and the fixed interest rate of the debt of 5.05% on

$80 million notional amount At the end of each quarter the Company makes or receives quarterly cash

payments based on the actual difference between these two rates At December 31 2008 the Company has

opted to let the notional amount of the interest rate swap exceed the amount of its debt by approximately

$10.5 million assuming that the current interest rate environment would improve allowing the Company to

pay off the quarterly swap requirements on more favorable terms

There is no prepayment penalty for optional prepayments see above on the first lien facility and the

following penalties for optional prepayments on the second lien facility 2.00% premium if prepaid the first

year 1.00% premium if prepaid the second year and no prepayment penalty thereafter As result of prepay

ing $30.0 million of the second lien facility the Company paid $0.6 million prepayment penalty which is

included in interest expense for the year ended December 31 2008 Mandatory prepayments under the first

lien facility include 50% of excess cash flow as defined in the credit agreement and 50% of all net cash

proceeds from the issuance of additional equity interests by us After the first lien facility is re-paid in full the

second lien facility requires mandatory prepayments which include 50% of excess cash flow as defined in

the credit agreement and 50% of all net cash proceeds from the issuance of additional equity interests by us

In addition the term loan of the first lien facility is subject to quarterly amortization of principal with 1.00%

of the initial aggregate advances under such loan to be payable in each of the first six years and the remainder

of the initial aggregate advance to be payable in balloon payment at maturity

The first and second lien credit facilities can be accelerated upon the occurrence of certain events

including

nonpayment of debt including interest and fees

failure to perform or observe covenants

cross defaults to other indebtedness exceeding $5.0 million

bankruptcy and insolvency and

certain other events

The first lien credit facility requires that the Company

maintain ratio of Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the first lien credit facility to consolidated

cash interest charges of at least 3.00 to

leverage ratio for all Companys debt which restricts the Company from allowing its total debt to

be greater than 3.25 times its Consolidated EBITDAas defined in the first lien credit facility

stepping down to 2.25 to on December 31 2009 and

leverage ratio which restricts the Company from allowing its first lien debt to be greater than

2.25 times its Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the first lien credit facility stepping down to

1.25 to on December 31 2009

The second lien credit facility contains one financial covenant consisting of leverage ratio for all debt

which restricts the Company from allowing its total debt to be greater than 3.75 times its Consolidated

EBITDA as defined in the second lien credit facility stepping down to 2.75 to on December 31 2009 The

Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants at December 31 2008

Under the terms of both credit facilities the Company is precluded from reacquiring its own shares
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Long term debt as of December 31 2008 is as follows

First lien term loan $59504174

Second lien term loan 10000000

Total Debt 69504174

Less Current maturities
___________

Total long term debt $69504174

The Company is required to pay the following amounts in each of the next four years

2009

2010

2011

2012 157421

Thereafter 69346753

Total $69504174

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes contractual obligations and borrowings as of December 31 2008 and the

timing and effect that such commitments are expected to have on our liquidity and capital requirements in

future periods We expect to fund other commitments primarily with operating cash flows generated in the

normal course of business

Contractual Obligations

Due in Less

Total than Year

Building Leases 3695786 559349

Oil and Peanuts Purchase

Commitments2 38621982 38621982

Debt Obligations3 69504174
__________ _________ _________ __________

$111821942 $39181331
_________ _________ __________

Includes lease agreement for the lease of corporate office facility located in Paramus NJ with an

approximate seven year life with the option to extend the lease for two additional five year terms and

ii three lease agreements for the lease of corporate office facility located in Niwot Colorado with an

approximate five year life with the option to extend each lease for 36 months

Forward purchase commitments for portion of the Companys projected requirement for peanuts and for

palm soy and canola oil These commitments may be stated at firm price or as discount or premium

from future commodity market price Based on the most recent prices the Company realized these

commitments would total approximately $38.6 million as of December 31 2008 The commitments are

expected to be liquidated by September 30 2009

For more information on our debt obligations see the section entitled Secured Debt Financing located

elsewhere in this report

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have off-balance sheet arrangements financings or other relationships with unconsolidated

entities or other persons also known as variable interest entities

Discussion of Results on an Operating Basis

Our GAAP financial information includes the results of GFA from the date of the acquisition May 21

2007 and therefore is not necessarily comparable to the current year ended December 31 2008 or for the

prior period presented Accordingly the information below presents historical periods on an operating basis

which excludes the operating expenses of Smart Balance parent company prior to the acquisition of GFA

Due Due More than

13Years 3SYears 5years

$1275800 $1132476 728161

787092

$1275800 $1919568

68717082

$69445243

26



and includes only the operating results of GFA in periods prior to the date of acquisition The accompanying

table reconciles those results to GAAP results We believe that this presentation allows investors more useful

information because it more closely reflects the performance and
expenses

of the operating entity in both the

current and prior periods presented

In order to provide more meaningful comparison of operating performance with the current and prior

period we have removed certain items from the 2007 operating basis results set forth below In 2007 the

GAAP operating loss includes certain expenses non-cash related to the release of performance based shares

from escrow FAS 123R stock option expense and amortization that did not exist for GFA in prior periods

Furthermore in 2006 operating loss for the parent company consisted largely of formation costs and other

expenses incurred in seeking and evaluating potential business combinations We have added these expenses

back to the operating basis results below as GFA incurred its own operating expenses
for these periods and

the inclusion of the parent companys expenses prior to the date of acquisition which consisted primarily of

formation expenses make it difficult to compare operating results period to period With the information as set

forth below we believe management and stockholders would not be able to determine whether or not sales

gross profit or operating income of the acquired business have improved in 2008 compared with prior periods

The operating basis results provided below are intended to assist the reader in comparing the operating perfor

mance of the GFA business we acquired for the periods before and after the acquisition However they do

not indicate what actual consolidated results would have been had we acquired GFA on January 2006

The operating basis results should not be viewed in isolation or as substitution for GAAP results

GAAP Results Add GFA

Reported in Results Prior

in millions Form 10-K to Acquisition Adjustments Operating Basis

unaudited unaudited unaudited

Year Ended December 31 2008

Net Sales $221.9 $221.9

Gross Profit 95.0 95.0

of Net Sales 42.8% 42.8%

Operating Income 5.7 5.7

Incremental
expenses

included in Operating

Income

Performance based shares released from

escrow

FAS 123R Stock Option Expense 14.9 14.9

Amortization and Depreciation 4.5 4.5

Operating Income excluding Non-cash expenses

and parent company pre-acquisition expenses 5.7 $19.4 25.1

%of Net Sales 11.3%

Year Ended December 31 2007

Net Sales $111.0 $64.4 $0.1 $175.5

Gross Profit 52.3 31.7 0.1 84.1

of Net Sales 47.1% 49.2% 47.9%

Operating Income Loss 11.4 12.7 1.1 2.4

Incremental expenses included in Operating

Income loss
Performance based shares released from

escrow 18.5 18.5

FAS 123R Stock Option Expense 6.7 6.7

Amortization and Depreciation 2.6 2.6

Operating Income Loss excluding Non-cash

expenses and parent company pre-acquisition

expenses 11.4 $12.7 $28.9 30.2

of Net Sales 17.2%
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GAAP Results Add GFA

Reported in Results Prior

in millions Form 10-K to Acquisition Adjustments Operating Basis

unaudited unaudited unaudited

Year Ended December 31 2006

Net Sales $137.4 $137.4

Gross Profit 67.6 67.6

of Net Sales 49.2% 49.2%

Operating Income Loss plus parent company

pre-acquisition expenses $1.9 23.8 $1.9 23.8

of Net Sales 17.3%

To remove parent company pre-acquisition expenses from results prior to the acquisition date and to

exclude incremental non-cash expenses of parent company after the date of acquisition Parent company

expenses
incurred beginning May 21 2007 remain included in operating basis results

Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Net Sales Net sales increased 26.4% to $221.9 million in 2008 from $175.5 million in 2007 This

increase was largely due to increased selling prices in most product categories and 6.7% increase in case

volume due to the introduction of Smart Balance butter blend sticks higher sales of cooking oil and sales of

milk introduced in the Florida test market beginning in late 2007 Prices were increased in response to higher

input costs Prices in the core category of spreads were increased in February June and August Selling prices

were partially offset by an increase in coupon redemption costs and higher trade promotion spending

Gross Profit Gross profit for 2008 increased $10.9 million to $95 million from $84.1 million in 2007

Gross profit as percentage of net sales decreased to 42.8% in 2008 from 47.9% in 2007 as the rate of input

costs increases were only partially offset by selling price increases

Operating Income Operating income increased $3.3 million to $5.7 million in 2008 from $2.4 million

in 2007 as the gain in gross profit was partially offset by increased marketing investments and higher selling

and distribution expenses General and administrative expenses decreased in 2008 versus 2007 due to an

$18.5 million non-cash expense in 2007 related to the release of performance based shares from escrow This

impact was partially offset by increased non-cash FAS 123R Stock Option expense non-cash amortization of

trademarks and infrastructure costs from headcount increases

Operating Income less Non-Cash Items Operating income less non-cash items decreased $5.1 million to

$25.1 million in 2008 from $30.2 million in 2007 as the gain in gross profit was more than offset by

$7.2 million increase in general and administrative costs including $4.9 million increase in marketing

investment and increases in selling and distribution costs The increase in general and administrative costs

reflect higher headcount and infrastructure costs during the first full year of operation since the acquisition of

GFA

Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Net Sales Net sales increased 27.7% to $175.5 million in 2007 from $137.4 million in 2006 due to

higher volumes and higher prices in almost all categories The increase in volume was brought about by

higher consumer demand for Smart Balance buttery spreads peanut butter cooking oil and mayonnaise and

distribution gains for Smart Balance items introduced in the prior year notably peanut butter cooking oil

and mayonnaise Market shares for buttery spreads peanut butter cooking oil and mayonnaise all increased

versus the prior year The gains in volume were slightly offset by lower volume in microwave popcorn due in

large part to category contraction Pricing increased on most items as input costs continued to rise throughout

2007 In the buttery spreads category we announced average price increases for March and August 2007 of

7.97% and 7.3% respectively There were no announced price increases in 2006 Items in test markets and

new products accounted for less than 1% of sales in 2007 as timing of introductory trade and promotion costs

reduced the impact of initial sales

Gross Profit Gross profit increased 24.4% to $84.1 million in 2007 from $67.6 million in 2006 due

primarily to higher sales volume Gross profit as percentage of net sales decreased to 47.9% in 2007 from
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49.2% in 2006 as higher input costs were only partially offset by selling price increases Input costs increased

in all major commodities used in our products notably in oils e.g soybean palm fruit and canola which

represent approximately 40% of cost of goods sold

Operating Income Operating income declined $21.4 million to $2.4 million in 2007 from $23.8 million

in 2006 as the gain due to higher sales volume was offset by increased general and administrative expenses

and marketing investments General and administrative expenses increased $29.3 million primarily due to

$6.7 million in non-cash FAS 123R Stock Option expense and $18.5 million non-cash expense
related to the

release of performance based shares from escrow $2.5 million for non-cash amortization of trademarks and

higher infrastructure costs

Operating Income less Non-Cash Items Operating income less non-cash items increased $6.4 million to

$30.2 million in 2007 from $23.8 million in 2006 as the gain due to higher sales volume was partially offset

by increases in selling marketing and general and administrative costs as well as the net unfavorable impact

of pricing and input cost increases

Supply Availability and General Risk Conditions

We contract for significant amounts of soy palm and canola oil products to support the needs of our

brands The price and availability of these commodities directly impacts our results of operations and can be

expected to impact our future results of operations In addition we contract for the manufacture of our prod

ucts with several contract manufacturers Two contract manufacturers produce nearly all of our Smart

Balance buttery spreads products Each of those manufacturers produce approximately one-half of the total

production and one uses multiple facilities to service the required volume We are dependent on these

manufacturers for the necessary production capacity in order for us to meet our customer demands

Seasonality and Quarterly Results

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations Historically significant portions of net revenue and

profits were and may continue to be realized during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year reflecting the holiday

baking and cooking season in which several of our products are utilized In addition there are increased sales

of these products during the Easter holiday season Because of the seasonality of our business results for any

quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for the full fiscal year

Critical Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the earnings process is complete and the risks and rewards of ownership

have transferred to the customer which is generally considered to have occurred upon the receipt of product

by the customer The earnings process is complete once the customer order has been placed and approved and

the product shipped has been received by the customer Product is sold to customers on credit terms estab

lished on an individual basis The credit factors used include historical performance current economic

conditions and the nature and volume of the product The Company offers its customers variety of sales and

incentive programs including discounts allowances coupons slotting fees and co-op advertising such

amounts are estimated and recorded as reduction in revenue The Company sells their products to customers

without the right of return and is not obligated to accept any returns and has historically not accepted returns

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances

indicate that impairment may have occurred The impairment analysis for goodwill included comparison of

our carrying value including goodwill to our estimated fair value If the fair value does not exceed its carry

ing value then an additional analysis is performed to allocate the fair value to all assets and liabilities as if it

had been acquired in business combination and the fair value was its purchase price If the excess of the fair

value of our identifiable assets and liabilities is less than the carrying value of recorded goodwill an impair

ment charge is recorded for the difference We completed our impairment analysis at June 30 2008 with

estimated fair value greater than the carrying value of the recorded goodwill At December 31 2008 manage

ment reviewed the Companys fair value compared with its carrying value and does not believe there are any
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indications of impairment and thus we have not recorded an impairment of goodwill This review was

required since during the second half of 2008 the Companys market capitalization periodically fell below

book value

Other Intangibles

Other intangibles are comprised of both definite and indefinite life intangible assets which are not amor

tized but are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the asset might be impaired In assessing the recoverability of indefinite life intangible assets we will

make assumptions about the estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of these

assets

An intangible asset is determined to have an indefinite useful life when there are no legal regulatory

contractual competitive and economic or any other factors that may limit the period over which the asset is

expected to contribute directly or indirectly to our future cash flows In each reporting period we will also

evaluate the remaining useful life of an intangible asset that is not being amortized to determine whether

events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life If an intangible asset that is not being

amortized is determined to have finite useful life the asset will be amortized prospectively over the esti

mated remaining useful life and accounted for in the same manner as intangible assets subject to amortization

We have determined that our Smart Balance and Earth Balance trademarks have an indefinite life and

these assets are not being amortized We believe that these trademarks collectively will contribute indefinitely

to the cash flows of the Company Certain other assets acquired primarily patent technology have been

determined to have definite lives ranging from 10 to 20 years and their costs are being amortized over their

expected lives

We will generally expense legal and related costs incurred in defending or protecting our intellectual

property unless we can demonstrate that such costs added economic value to the business enterprise in which

case the Company will capitalize such costs as part of intangible assets The primary consideration in making

this determination is whether or not we can legally demonstrate that it has been successful in defending itself

against such intellectual property challenges The second consideration for capitalization will be that such

costs have in fact increased the economic value of our intellectual property Legal defense costs which dont

meet the above criteria will be expensed as incurred Recovery of legal defense costs as part of settlement

agreement will be recorded as reduction of capitalized legal costs with any excess recorded in income

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for

financial reporting and income tax purposes

In January 2007 the Company adopted FIN 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an Inter

pretation of FASB Statement No 109 which provides criteria for the recognition measurement presentation

and disclosure of uncertain tax positions tax benefit from an uncertain position may be recognized only if it

is more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits The adoption of FIN 48

did not have material effect on the companys results of operations or financial condition

Interest Rate Swaps

We use interest rate swaps to cover exposure to changes in interest rates We recognize changes in the

fair value of interest rate swaps in earnings in the period when the change occurs

Forward Purchase Commitments

We enter into forward purchase commitments of projected commodity requirements needed to produce

our finished goods These commitments are stated at firm price or as discount or premium from future

commodity price and are placed with our manufacturers

Accounting for Warrants Derivative Liability

On December 21 2005 we consummated our offering of 12760840 units Each unit consists of one

share of common stock and one redeemable common stock purchase warrant Each warrant entitled the holder
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to purchase from the Company one share of its common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 In addition

certain initial shareholders of the Company purchased 1000000 warrants for $1.70 per warrant with an

exercise price of $6.00 per
share

It was determined that the public warrants were derivative liabilities under the guidance of EITF 00-19

Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to and Potentially Settled in Companys Own

Stock as these warrants could potentially require net cash settlement The public warrants began trading

separately from the units in January 2006 Consequently the fair value of these warrants was estimated at the

market price of warrant at each period end To the extent that the market price increased or decreased our

derivative liabilities also increased or decreased with corresponding effect on the Companys consolidated

statement of operations The net change in the valuation from December 31 2006 through the redemption date

of $45.6 million was recorded as non-operating loss When the public warrants were exercised we removed

the total derivative liability by reclassifying it to additional paid in capital

In early October 2007 we notified the warrant holders that the public warrants would be redeemed

effective December 2007 unless exercised Almost all of the public warrants were exercised with the Com

pany receiving approximately $76.5 million of cash which was used to pay down approximately $40 million

of debt

Acquisitions

We have accounted for the GFA acquisition using the purchase method of accounting Under the purchase

method our consolidated financial statements reflect the operations of GFA starting from the date of the

acquisition May 21 2007 In addition the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at the date of

acquisition at their respective estimated fair values with any excess of the purchase price over the estimated

fair values of the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill

Significant judgment is required in estimating the fair value of intangible assets and in assigning their

respective useful lives Accordingly we obtained the assistance of third-party valuation specialists for signifi

cant terms The fair value estimates are based on available historical information and on future expectations

and assumptions deemed reasonable by management but are inherently uncertain

We typically use an income method to estimate the fair value of intangible assets which is based on

forecasts of the expected future cash flows attributable to the respective assets Significant estimates and

assumptions inherent in the valuations reflect consideration of other marketplace participants and include

the amount and timing of future cash flows including expected growth rates and profitability the underlying

product life cycles economic barriers to entry brands relative market position and the discount rate applied

to the cash flows Unanticipated market or macroeconomic events and circumstances may occur which could

affect the accuracy or validity of the estimates and assumptions

Share-Based Compensation Expense

In conjunction with the acquisition of GFA on May 21 2007 we adopted SFAS 123R which requires

the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to

employees and directors including employee stock options based on estimated fair values For 2008 employee

share-based compensation expense was $14.9 million

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2008 the Emerging Issues Tax Force EITF issued EITF 07-5 Determining Whether an

Instrument or Embedded Feature is Indexed to an Entitys Own Stock This EITF which will become

effective in the first quarter of 2009 will require that company which has an instrument that is determined

to be derivative under this guidance to take an initial charge as an adjustment to opening retained earnings

and thereafter reflect any adjustment in the market price through the income statement The Company has

made the determination that the adoption of EITF 07-5 will not have an impact on the Company

In March 2008 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 161 Disclosure about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

an amendment of FASB No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities SFAS

31



No 161 requires increased qualitative quantitative and credit risk disclosures but does not change the scope

or accounting requirements of FASB No 133 SFAS No 161 is effective for financial statements issued and

interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 The Company is evaluating the impact of this

amendment

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 revised 2007 Business Combinations SFAS
14 1R which replaces FASB Statement No 141 SFAS 141 establishes principles and requirements for

how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabili

ties assumed any non controlling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired and establishes that

acquisition costs will be generally expensed as incurred This statement also establishes disclosure require

ments which will enable users to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination SFAS

141R is effective as of the beginning of an entitys fiscal year that begins after December 15 2008 The

adoption of SFAS 141R will not have an impact on the Companys financial statements

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statement amendments of ARB No 51 SPAS No 160 states that accounting and reporting for minority

interests will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as component of equity The SFAS

No 160 also establishes reporting requirements that provide sufficient disclosures that clearly identify and

distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners This statement is

effective as of the beginning of an entitys first fiscal year beginning after December 15 2008 The adoption

of SFAS No 160 will not have an impact on the Companys financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities Including an amendment of FASB Statement No 115 SFAS No 159 provides for an

election to expand the use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards which require assets

or liabilities to be carried at fair value Under SFAS No 159 company may elect to use fair value to mea

sure accounts and loans receivable available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities equity method

investments accounts payable guarantees and issued debt Other eligible items include firm commitments for

financial instruments that otherwise would not be recognized at inception and non-cash warranty obligations

where warrantor is permitted to pay third party to provide the warranty goods or services If the use of

fair value is elected any upfront costs and fees related to the item must be recognized in earnings and cannot

be deferred e.g debt issue costs The fair value election is irrevocable and generally made on an instrument-

by-instrument basis even if company has similar instruments that it elects not to measure based on fair

value At the adoption date unrealized gains and losses on existing items for which fair value has been

elected are reported as cumulative adjustment to beginning retained earnings Subsequent to the adoption of

SFAS No 159 changes in fair value are recognized in earnings SFAS No 159 is effective for fiscal years

beginning after November 15 2007 The Company has elected to adopt SFAS No 159 on an instrument-by-

instrument basis effective January 2008

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to financial market risks due primarily to changes in interest rates on our variable inter

est rate debt which we hedge through the use of an interest rate swap which converts our variable interest

rate into fixed rate During 2008 we recorded charge for changes in the fair value of this swap instrument

in the amount of $5.1 million We did not designate this as hedge as defined under SPAS No 133

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We purchase significant amounts of soy palm and canola oil products to support the needs of our brands

The price and availability of these commodities directly impacts the results of operations and can be expected

to impact the future results of operations We do not engage in any hedging activities because we enter into

agreements that qualify as normal purchases and sales in the normal course of business Accordingly the

agreements do not qualify as derivatives under SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities Based on the most recent prices for soy palm and canola oil products we would have

commitments of $38.6 million

In conjunction with the debt arrangements noted above the Company entered into notional $80000000
of interest rate swaps on August 16 2007 which are designed to fix the interest rate of the variable rate debt
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Under these swaps the Company receives the difference between its fixed-rate interest payments and floating-

rate payments based on LIBOR The effect of this is to convert floating-rate interest expense based on LIBOR

into fixed-rate interest expense The arrangements settle on the last day of each calendar quarter For the

quarter ended December 31 2008 the Company paid 5.05% and received 3.67% increasing interest expense

by $263349 At December 31 2008 the cost to settle this agreement with the counterparty based on the

current interest rate markets at December 31 2008 was $5.1 million

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates charged on our debt The impact on earn

ings is subject to change as result of movements in market rates hypothetical increase in interest rates of

100 basis points would result in potential reduction of future pre-tax earnings of approximately $0.1 million

per year for every $10.0 million outstanding under our first lien credit facility and approximately $0.1 million

per year under our second lien credit facility Our ability to meet our debt service obligations will be depen

dent upon our future performance which in turn is subject to future economic conditions and to financial

business and other factors

Item Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements and supplementary data are listed in Part IV Item 15a

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our management with

the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officers evaluated the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 3a- 15e and Sd- 15e under the

Exchange Act as of December 31 2008 Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation

controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the

reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management

including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officers as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure Management recognizes that any controls and proce

dures no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their

objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of

possible controls and procedures Based on managements evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures

as of December 31 2008 our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officers con

cluded that as of such date our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance

level

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and main

taining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15f Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our chief executive

officer chief operating officer and chief financial officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of

our internal control over financial reporting Based on our evaluation our management concluded that our

internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2008

Ehrhardt Keefe Steiner Hottman PC an independent registered public accounting firm has audited the

consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K and as part of their audit has

issued report
included herein on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting

Our system of internal control over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States All internal control systems no mater how well designed

have inherent limitations Therefore even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reason

able assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any
evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes

in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fiscal quarter ended December 31 2008 there was no change in our internal control over

financial reporting that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control

over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

Not applicable
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information concerning directors executive officers and corporate governance is incorporated by refer

ence pursuant to Instruction of Form 10-K from our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 annual meeting

of shareholders to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before April 30 2009

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive compensation is incorporated by reference pursuant to Instruction of

Form 10-K from our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed with

the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before April 30 2009

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated

by reference pursuant to Instruction of Form 10-K from our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 annual

meeting of shareholders to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before April 30

2009

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated by reference pursuant

to Instruction of Form 10-K from our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 annual meeting of sharehold

ers to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before April 30 2009

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accountant fees and services is incorporated by reference pursuant to

Instruction of Form 10-K from our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders

to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before April 30 2009
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules Smart Balances 2008 financial statements

together with the report of Ehrhardt Keefe Steiner Hottman PC are listed on the index preceding the

financial statements at the end of this report

Exhibits

Exhibit

No Description

2.1.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Boulder Specialty Brands Inc BSB Acquisition Co
Inc GFA Holdings Inc and Stockholders Representative dated as of September 25 20061

2.1.2 Letter Agreement dated as of February 15 2007 between Boulder Specialty Brands Inc TSG4
L.P as shareholders representative GFA Holdings Inc and BSB Acquisition Co Inc to amend

the Merger Agreement3

4.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Smart Balance Inc.5

10.1 Promissory Note dated June 21 2005 issued to Stephen Hughes2

10.2 Promissory Note dated June 21 2005 issued to James Lewis2

10.3 Form of Registration Rights Agreement among Boulder Specialty Brands Inc and the Initial

Stockholders2

10.4 Form of Founding Director Warrant Purchase Agreement among Boulder Specialty Brands Inc

Messrs Stephen Hughes and James Lewis certain Directors of Boulder Specialty Brands Inc

and Senior Advisor2

10.5 Form of Indenmity Agreement between Boulder Specialty Brands Inc and each of its directors and

executive officers2

10.6 Form of Non-Compete Agreement between Boulder Specialty Brands Inc and each of its officers

and directors2

10.7 Promissory Note dated February 15 2007 executed by Boulder Specialty Brands Inc in favor of

Stephen Hughes3

10.8 Securities Purchase Agreement between Boulder Specialty Brands Inc and certain investors dated

as of September 25 2006

10.9 Letter Agreement dated as of February 15 2007 between Boulder Specialty Brands Inc and certain

investors to amend the Purchase Agreement3

10.10 First Lien Credit Agreement dated as of May 21 2007 among BSB Acquisition Co Inc as

borrower Boulder Specialty Brands Inc as holdings Bank of America N.A as administrative

agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer and the other lenders party thereto and Banc of America

Securities LLC as sole lead arranger and sole book manager5

10.11 Second Lien Credit Agreement dated as of May 21 2007 among BSB Acquisition Co Inc as

borrower Boulder Specialty Brands Inc as holdings Bank of America N.A as administrative

agent and the other lenders party thereto and Bane of America Securities LLC as sole lead

arranger and sole book manager5

10.12 Form of Registration Rights Agreement between Boulder Specialty Brands Inc and certain

investors

10.13 Smart Balance Inc Stock and Awards Plan4

10.14 Processing and Packaging Agreement dated as of January 2003 by and between GFA Brands

Inc and Creative Foods LLC5

10.15 License Agreement dated as of June 18 1996 by and between Brandeis University and GFA

Brands Inc.5
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Exhibit

No Description

10.16 Manufacturing Agreement for Margarine and Spreads dated March 2007 by and between GFA

Brands Inc and Ventura Foods LLC5

10.17 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement5

10.18 Form of Change of Control AgreementS

10.19 Amended and Restated Smart Balance Inc Inducement Award Plan6

10.20 Amended Form of Stock Option Agreement7

10.21 Amended Form of Change of Control Agreement7

18.1 Preferability Letter from Independent Public Accountants8

21.1 Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Ehrhardt Keefe Steiner Hottman PC

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 3a- 14a and

15d-14a as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 3a- 14a and Sd- 14a
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S .C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Incorporated by reference to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 27 2007

Incorporated by reference to our registration statement on Form 5-1 or amendments thereto

File No 333-126364

Incorporated by reference to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16 2007

Incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on April 27 2007

Incorporated by reference to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 25 2007

Incorporated by reference to our registration statement on Form S-8 or amendments thereto

File No 333-156338

Incorporated by reference to our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 2008

Incorporated by reference to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 2008

Management remuneration contract
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ANNUAL REPORT INFORMATION

Executive Officers and Directors

Certain information regarding our directors and executive officers is provided below

Mr Gillespie is private investor and the principal of Westmount Investments LLC Mr Hooper is an

employee of the Company and the principal of marketing consulting firm Hooper Consulting LLC
Mr Laber is Certified Public Accountant and president of The Catholic Foundation in Denver Colorado

Mr Leighton is senior vice president of operations and supply chain management for Perdue Farms

Incorporated Mr Lewis is Certified Public Accountant and the chairman and CEO of Jeltex Holdings LLC
Mr McCarthy is self-employed consultant and private investor Mr OBrien is consultant to and chairman

emeritus of Catalina Marketing Corporation

Stock Performance Graph

The performance graph furnished below compares the annual cumulative total stockholder return

assuming reinvestment of dividends from investing $100 on January 23 2006 in each of our common

stock ii peer group
index consisting of the SP Packaged Foods Meats Index and iii the SP

SmallCap 600 Index We completed our initial public offering on December 21 2005 We sold 12760840

units consisting of one share of common stock and one public warrant to purchase common stock in our

initial public offering The units became separable on January 23 2006 Prior to January 23 2006 there was

no established public trading market for our common stock For compatibility purposes the performance

graph below compares the total return from our common stock beginning January 23 2006 To date we have

not paid dividends and no dividends are included in the representation of our performance

The stock price performance on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance

The stock performance graph should not be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any other

filing made by us under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 except to the

extent that we specifically incorporate the stock performance graph by reference in another filing

Name Title

Stephen Hughes

Robert Gluck

Alan Gever

John Konzelmann

Robert Gillespie

William Hooper

Gerald Laber

James Leighton

James Lewis

Robert McCarthy

Michael OBrien

Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer and Director

Vice Chairman Chief Operating Officer and Director

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Vice President Controller and Principal Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Smart Balance Inc

SP SmaIlCap 600 Index

A--- SP Packaged Foods Meats Index
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the regis

trant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on this 27th

day of February 2009

SMART BALANCE INC

By Is Stephen Hughes

Stephen Hughes

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below

by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated

Name Title Date

Is Stephen Hughes Chairman and Chief Executive Officer February 27 2009

Stephen Hughes Director

Is Robert Gluck Vice Chairman and Chief Operating February 27 2009

Robert Gluck Officer Director

Is Alan Gever Executive Vice President and Chief Finan- February 27 2009

Alan Gever cial Officer

Is John Konzelmann Vice President Controller and Principal February 27 2009

John Konzelmann Accounting Officer

Is James Lewis Director February 27 2009

James Lewis

Is Gerald Laber Director February 27 2009

Gerald Laber

Is Robert McCarthy Director February 27 2009

Robert McCarthy

Is James Leighton Director February 27 2009

James Leighton

Is Michael OBrien Director February 27 2009

Michael OBrien
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Smart Balance mc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Smart Balance Inc and subsidiary as

of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity

and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31 2008 We also have audited the

Companys internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission the COSO Criteria The Companys management is responsible for these financial state

ments for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying managements report

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the effectiveness of the Compa

nys internal control over financial reporting based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective

internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit of the financial

statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan

cial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk

and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assur

ance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that

in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the com

pany provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expen

ditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of

the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of Smart Balance mc and subsidiary as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Decem

ber 31 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

Also in our opinion Smart Balance mc and subsidiary maintained in all material respects effective internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the COSO Criteria

is Ehrhardt Keefe Steiner Hottman PC

Denver Colorado

February 27 2009
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Income taxes payable

Total current liabilities

Long term debt

Derivative liability

Deferred tax liability

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitment and contingencies

5492330

14282956

691823

9322093

708828

1018927

650100

32167057

4300642

24937236

1080466

26017702

69504174

5132231

46268286

161711

147084104

37648754

11733117

799470

7202198

6517833

1454866

1079509

66435747

1805331

20355419

1035149

21390568

119504174

53293528

194188270

Stockholders equity

Series Convertible Preferred stock $.0001 par value 50000000

shares authorized 15388889 issued and outstanding liquidation

preference $175659013 converted on January 2008

Common stock $.000l par value 250000000 shares authorized

62630683 2008 and 43113863 2007 issued and outstanding

Additional paid in capital

Retained deficit ____________

Total stockholders equity ____________

Total liabilities and stockholders equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net of allowance of 2008 $256100 and

December 31
2008

December 31
2007

2007 $228871

Accounts receivable other

Inventories

Prepaid taxes

Prepaid expenses
and other assets

Deferred tax asset

Total current assets

Property and equipment net

Other assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets net

Deferred costs net

Other assets

Total other assets

Total assets

374885923

155223243

1737220

221516

532067902

$568535601

374885923

159645634

3519412

74975

538125944

$606367022

175659013

6263

507377418

85932184

421451497

$568535601

4311

315479759

78964331

412178752

$606367022
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2008 2007 2006

Net sales $221871912 111038295

Cost of goods sold 126903498 58715013

Gross profit 94968414 52323282
___________

Operating expenses

Marketing 33286061 15118184

Selling 17671462 12268066

General and administrative 38317244 17931109

Performance based shares released from escrow 18455815

Formation and operating costs 1924602

Total operating expenses 89274767 63773174 1924602

Operating Income loss 5693647 11449892 1924602

Other income expense

Interest income 291949 2449614 4220026

Interest expense 9049019 9677881

Loss on derivative liability 5132231 45556199 15266445

Other expense net 2335752 1019607
___________

Total other income expense 16225053 53804073 11046419

Loss before income taxes 10531406 65253965 12971021

Benefit provision for income taxes 3563553 705897 808140

Net loss 6967853 64548068 $13779161

Less Unpaid dividends on convertible preferred stock 37159011

Net loss available for common shares 6967853 $101707079 $13779161

Net loss per share basic and diluted 0.11 4.12 0.96

Weighted average shares outstanding basic and diluted 62523742 24667344 14355945

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided

by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Accrued interest receivable in trust

Stock based compensation

Performance based shares released from escrow

Increase in derivative liabilities

Deferred interest income

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Net cash provided by used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of GFA

Purchase of property and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Capitalization/recovery of legal fees

Proceeds from maturity of treasury bills held in trust

Purchase of treasury bills held in trust

Increase decrease in cash held in trust

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of long term debt

Repayment of debt

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock

Proceeds from sale of warrants

Payments for offering and loan costs

Proceeds from repayment of advances from

stockholders

Proceeds from stock-related legal settlement

Net cash provided by used in financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash for the period

Cash Beginning of period

Cash End of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Accrual of deferred acquisition costs

Accrued dividend on Series preferred stock

Cash paid during the year for

Income taxes net of refunds

Interest

486228418

1744002

1152483

160000000

50000000 40495826

107500002

138500001

76515668

17399226

1344658
_____________

48655342 _____________

32156424

37648754 ____________

5492330
_____________

555283

117840

15266445

432623

698691157

701408491

1519
2718853

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Year Ended

December 31
2008

6967853

Year Ended

December 31
2007

Year Ended

December 31
2006

1377916164548068

6279127 4023543

6595836 2767763

14895940 6689477

18455815

5132231 45556199

432623

619994

2417075

3071788

151162

716561

1237
1173673

2419220

2549839
2119895

6352591

4642305

19068771

2920405

350552

2569853

101073611

388051292

811441

206276 131607

424414343

37079612

569142

37648754

37159011

4583244

9214891

679834

979467

1548609

569142

3163628

10200002031678

8112461
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional Retained Stockholders

Shares Amount Shares Amount Paid in Capital Deficit Equity

Balance at December 31 2005
_________

15951050 $1595 59746819 637102 59111312

Issuance costs 4847 4847
Net loss for the year _________ ______ ___________

13779161 13779161

Balance at December 31 2006 15951050 1595 59741972 14416263 45327304

Issuance of Series convertible

preferred shares 15388899 138500002 138500002

Issuance of common stock 14410188 1441 107498561 107500002

Proceeds from public warrants 12752625 1275 76514393 76515668

Stock compensation expense 6689477 6689477

Conversion of common stock held

in escrow 19661116 19661116

Equity issuance costs 13763685 13763685

Performance based shares released

from escrow 18455815 18455815

Reclassification of derivative

liability on warrants to equity 77841121 77841121

Accrued dividend on convertible

preferred stock 37159011 37159011

Net loss
__________ ___________ _________ _____ ___________

64548068 64548068

Balance at December 31 2007 15388899 175659013 43113863 4311 315479759 78964331 412178752

Conversion of preferred stock 15388899 175659013 19516820 1952 175657061

Stock compensation expense 14895940 14895940

Legal settlement net of tax 1344658 1344658

Net loss
__________ ___________ _________ _____ ___________

6967853 6967853

Balance at December 31 2008 62630683 $6263 $507377418 $85932184 $421451497

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General

On May 21 2007 Smart Balance Inc formerly known as Boulder Specialty Brands Inc or Boul

der completed merger pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated September 25 2006 as

extended by letter agreement dated as of February 15 2007 between Boulder and GFA Holdings Inc

GFA Holdings the sole stockholder of GFA Brands Inc GFA Brands on May 21 2007 GFA Hold

ings was merged into GFA Brands the surviving company is referred to herein as GFA Pursuant to the

merger agreement wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary of Boulder merged with and into GFA and GFA

became wholly-owned subsidiary of Boulder

Immediately following the merger Boulder changed its name to Smart Balance Inc All references to

Smart Balance Inc or the Company herein include the predecessor company Boulder

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements included herein reflect the acquisition of GFA on May 21 2007

with results of operations included from that date and the estimated fair value of the net assets of GFA

included on May 21 2007 see note Prior to May 21 2007 the Company was blank check company

with no operating activities whose sole purpose was to serve as vehicle for an acquisition in the consumer

foods or beverage industry The Company was capitalized through an initial public offering on December 21

2005 which raised approximately $96 million Of this amount approximately 96% was placed in trust

account until an acquisition was completed or until the Company was liquidated as required by its charter

Merger with GFA

On May 21 2007 the Company as part of the merger agreement acquired 100% of the stock of GFA

Holdings Inc the parent company of GFA Brands Inc GFA Brands Inc sells and markets consumer foods

products primarily dairy products under the Smart Balance and Earth Balance brand names to regional

and national grocery stores Concurrent with this acquisition the Company changed its name to Smart Bal

ance Inc The cost of the acquisition was approximately $491 million Prior to the merger the Company was

blank check company whose sole purpose was to acquire consumer foods or beverage company After

analyzing several alternative opportunities the Company acquired GFA Brands Inc because of its leading

brand name products

Under the GFA merger agreement stockholders of GFA Holdings were paid an aggregate of $491.4

million in cash which included the assumption of post-closing bonus payments net of tax benefits The acqui

sition cost was paid with $101.1 million of cash held in trust account established in connection with the

Companys initial public offering ii the net proceeds of private placement see note 16 of $246.0 million

$107.5 million for common stock and $138.5 million for the Series convertible preferred stock together

with the investor warrants and iii proceeds from secured debt financing see note of $160.0 million

The purchase price consists of the following

Cash purchase price excluding bonus assumption $466802920

Acquisition costs 9640806

Total purchase price $476443726
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Merger with GFA continued

The Companys purchase price allocation subject to final adjustment for the net assets acquired is as

follows

Cash 16675065

Accounts receivable 11362725

Inventories 4657010

Prepaid assets 5153157

Other assets 160599

Intangible assets 161000000

Goodwill 374885923

Total assets 573894479

Accounts payable accrued expenses and other liabilities 40163743

Deferred taxes and other 57287010

Total liabilities assumed 97450753

Net assets acquired $476443726

The weighted average amortization period is approximately 10.2 years The amount of goodwill which is

carried over from predecessor acquisition and is deductible for tax purposes is $48.8 million

Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of

operations of the Company for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 as though the GFA merger had

occurred as of the beginning of each applicable fiscal year Net sales reflect the reclassification of certain trade

and consumer promotion expenditures that had previously been classified as selling general and administrative

expenses The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for informational
purposes only and is

not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the merger had taken place at the

beginning of the period presented or that may result in the future

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 2007 December 31 2006

Pro Forma Pro Forma

unaudited unaudited

Net sales $175562021 $137404155

Operating income loss 853895 16654428

Net loss 57940049 16807668
Less Unpaid dividends on cumulative preferred shares 37159011 37159011

Net loss available for EPS 95099060 53966679

Loss per share 3.15 1.88

Weighted average shares outstanding 30194539 28766133

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to

be cash equivalents At December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company did not have any cash equivalents
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less allowances for cash discounts and doubt

ful receivables based on review of all outstanding amounts Management determines the allowance for

doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual customer receivables and considering customers finan

cial condition credit history and current economic conditions Accounts receivable are written off when

deemed uncollectible Bad debt expense was not material to the Company for the years
ended December 31

2008 and 2007 Recoveries of receivables previously written off are recorded when received The Company

does not charge interest on past due receivables

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost first-in first-out or market and consist primarily of finished

goods

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the esti

mated useful lives of the assets ranging from to 10 years Leasehold improvements are amortized using the

straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvement The

Company continually evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining

estimated useful life of long-lived assets may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of these assets

may not be recoverable When deemed necessary the Company completes this evaluation by comparing the

carrying amount of the assets against the estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with them If

such evaluations indicate that the future undiscounted cash flows of amortizable long-lived assets are not

sufficient to recover the carrying value of such assets the assets are adjusted to their estimated fair values

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances

indicate that impairment may have occurred The impairment analysis for goodwill included comparison of

the Companys carrying value including goodwill to the Companys estimated fair value If the fair value of

the Company does not exceed its carrying value then an additional analysis is performed to allocate the fair

value to all assets and liabilities as if it had been acquired in business combination and the fair value was its

purchase price If the excess of the fair value of the Company over the fair value of its identifiable assets and

liabilities is less than the carrying value of recorded goodwill an impairment charge is recorded for the differ

ence The Company completed an impairment analysis at June 30 2008 with estimated fair value greater than

the carrying value of the recorded goodwill At December 31 2008 management reviewed the Companys fair

value compared with its carrying value and does not believe there are any indications of impairment and thus

the Company has not recorded an impairment of goodwill This review was required since during the second

half of 2008 the Companys market capitalization periodically fell below book value

Intangible Assets

Other intangibles are comprised of both definite and indefinite life intangible assets Indefinite life intan

gible assets are not amortized but are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes

in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired In assessing the recoverability of indefinite life

intangible assets the Company must make assumptions about the estimated future cash flows and other factors

to determine the fair value of these assets

An intangible asset is determined to have an indefinite useful life when there are no legal regulatory

contractual competitive economic or any
other factors that may limit the period over which the asset is

expected to contribute directly or indirectly to the future cash flows of the Company In each reporting period

the Company also evaluates the remaining useful life of an intangible asset that is not being amortized to

F-9



SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life If an intangible asset

that is not being amortized is determined to have finite useful life the asset will be amortized prospectively

over the estimated remaining useful life and accounted for in the same manner as intangible assets subject to

amortization

The Company has determined that its Smart Balance and Earth Balance trademarks have an indefinite

life and accordingly these assets are not being amortized Certain other assets acquired primarily patent

technology have been determined to have definite lives ranging from 10 to 20 years and their costs are being

amortized over their expected lives

The Company generally expenses legal and related costs incurred in defending or protecting its intellec

tual property unless it can be established that such costs have added economic value to the business

enterprise in which case the Company capitalizes the costs incurred as part of intangible assets The primary

consideration in making the determination of whether to capitalize the costs is whether the Company can

prove that it has been successful in defending itself against such intellectual property challenges The second

consideration for capitalization is whether such costs have in fact increased the economic value of the Com
panys intellectual property Legal defense costs that do not meet the considerations described above will be

expensed as incurred Recovery of legal expenses as part of settlement agreement will be recorded as

reduction of capitalized legal fees with any excess recorded as income During 2007 the Company capitalized

approximately $1.2 million of legal defense costs These costs related to challenge to the use of the Smart

Balance trademark for new product lines which the Company successfully defended The successful defense

should expand the Companys potential profitability

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs to external customers for 2008 and from May 21 2007 inception to

December 31 2007 was approximately $12772518 and $7051434 respectively and was included in selling

expense On pro forma basis shipping and handling cost for the
years ended December 31 2007 and 2006

were $11197782 and $9390087 respectively

Deferred Costs

Costs related to the acquisition of GFA were deferred through the date of acquisition and then capitalized

as part of purchase price These costs included principally accounting fees legal fees and other fees which

were allocated to the purchase price private placement fees and deferred offering costs Deferred offering

costs related to the private placement were recorded as reduction of equity upon the completion of the

merger transaction Deferred loan costs associated with the secured debt financing are being amortized over

the life of debt using the effective interest method

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the earnings process is complete and the risks and rewards of ownership

have transferred to the customer which is generally considered to have occurred upon the receipt of product

by the customer The earnings process is complete once the customer order has been placed and approved and

the product shipped has been received by the customer Product is sold to customers on credit terms estab

lished on an individual basis The credit factors used include historical performance current economic

conditions and the nature and volume of the product The Company offers its customers variety of sales and

incentive programs including discounts allowances coupons slotting fees and co-op advertising such

amounts are estimated and recorded as reduction in revenue The Company sells their products to customers

without the right of return and is not obligated to accept any returns and has historically not accepted returns

For interim reporting the Company estimates certain annual sales incentives and marketing costs for most

programs and records
pro rata share in proportion to forecasted annual revenue The difference between the

actual costs incurred to date and the amount deferred is shown as prepaid asset
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Warrants Derivative Liability

Common Stock Units

On December 21 2005 the Company consummated its initial public offering of 12760840 units Each

unit consists of one share of common stock and one redeemable common stock purchase warrant which we

refer to as public warrants Each public warrant entitled the holder to purchase from the Company one share

of its common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 In addition certain initial shareholders of the Company

purchased 1000000 warrants for $1.70 per warrant with an exercise price of $6.00 per share which we refer

to as the founding director warrants

Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No 00-19 Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed

to and Potentially Settled in Companys Own Stock EITF 00-19 requires freestanding contracts that

are settled in companys own stock including common stock warrants to be designated as an equity instru

ment asset or liability Under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No 133

SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities as amended contract

designated as an asset or liability must be carried at fair value on companys balance sheet with any

changes in fair value recorded in the companys results of operations contract designated as an equity

instrument must be included within equity and no fair value adjustments are required from period to period

In accordance with EITF 00-19 the 12760840 public warrants were separately accounted for as liabilities

and the 1000000 founding director warrants are accounted for as equity

SFAS No 133 requires all derivatives to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value Furthermore

paragraph 11a of SFAS No 133 precludes contracts issued or held by reporting entity that are both

indexed to its own stock and classified as stockholders equity in its statement of financial position

from being treated as derivative instruments While the public warrants are indexed to the Companys com

mon stock the fact that the shares underlying the warrants require that they are settled in registered shares

requires the Company to classify these instruments as liability in accordance with EITF 00-19 paragraph 14

This derivative liability is adjusted to fair value and any changes are recorded as non-operating gains or

losses

The public warrants began trading separately from the units in January 2006 Consequently the fair value

of these warrants was estimated at the market price of warrant at each period end To the extent that the

market price increased or decreased the Companys derivative liabilities also increased or decreased with

corresponding effect on the Companys consolidated statement of operations The net change in the valuation

from December 31 2006 through the redemption date of $45.6 million was recorded as non-operating loss

On October 31 2007 the Company called for redemption of all of its outstanding public warrants to

purchase common stock for $.01 per warrant Under the terms of the warrant agreement the holders of the

warrants had thirty days to exercise the warrants once called Each public warrant entitled the holder to pur

chase one share of common stock of the Company at price of $6.00 per public warrant share exercised The

majority of the public warrants were exercised by early December The fair value of these warrants on the

date the redemption was announced was $6.10 per warrant which resulted in decrease in the derivative

liability from September 30 2007 of $4976728 with corresponding effect on the Companys consolidated

statement of operations The remaining balance of $77841121 reclassified from derivative liability to addi

tional paid in capital

Series Convertible Preferred Stock

In connection with the acquisition of GFA the Company entered into private placement transaction for

common stock and Series convertible preferred stock together with investor warrants pursuant to Securi

ties Purchase Agreement dated September 25 2006 as amended by letter agreement dated February 15 2007

The Agreement included 14410188 of shares of common stock and 15388889 of Series convertible

preferred stock along with an equal number of investor warrants the Series Warrants The Series
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Warrants were determined to have de minimis value as the Company has assessed the probability very low

that the warrants would ever be exercisable The net proceeds of approximately $246 million received by the

Company were used to fund portion of the acquisition costs of GFA

The Company has made determination under the guidance of EITF 00-19 that the conversion feature

and the anti-dilution rights were not derivatives and therefore no fair value measurement was required

The Company forced the conversion of the Series convertible preferred stock into common stock on

January 2008 As result of this conversion the Series warrants are no longer exercisable

Loss Per Share of Common Stock

Basic earnings loss per share is computed by dividing net income or loss applicable to common stock

holders by the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding for the period Diluted earnings loss

per share is computed by dividing net income loss by the weighted-average shares outstanding adjusted for

any additional common shares that would have been outstanding if all of the potential dilutive common shares

had been issued Potential dilutive common shares outstanding would include primarily stock options and

founders warrants The following table summarizes stock options not included in the computation of diluted

EPS

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Stock options excluded due to option price being greater than

market value 11327000 485000

Stock options excluded due to anti-dilution 717500 8312500

Founding director warrants excluded due to anti-dilution 1000000 1000000

Segments

SFAS 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information requires segment

information to be prepared using the management approach The management approach is based on the

method that management organizes the segments within the Company for making operating decisions and

assessing performance The Company evaluates all products makes operating decisions and performance

assessments based on total company approach and therefore considers itself as having only one segment

The Companys buttery spreads business marketed under Smart Balance Earth Balance SmartBeat and

Nucoa is by far the most developed product segment and accounted for approximately 75% of 2008 sales

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents short term trade receivables

payables and note payables The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents and short term receivables and

payables approximate fair value because of their short maturities The Companys note payable is determined

by quoted market prices that are reset every three months and therefore approximates fair value At Decem
ber 31 2008 the Company used the income approach to determine the fair value of the interest rate swap

utilizing the present value techniques and recorded $5132231 as non-current liability with an increase to

interest expense The fair value measurement used to determine this amount was based on SFAS 157 Fair

Value Measurements which requires three-tier fair value hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to measure fair

value These tiers include Level defined as inputs such as unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for

identical assets or liabilities Level defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that

are either directly or indirectly observable or Level defined as unobservable inputs for use when little or no

market value exists therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions The Company used Level

inputs to measure fair value at December 31 2008
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Research and Development

Research and development expenses are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Operations when

incurred and amounted to $255697 for 2008 and $64385 from May 21 2007 inception to December 31

2007 On pro forma basis research and development expenses for the years ended December 31 2007 and

2006 were $93822 and $85075 respectively

Derivative Instruments

The primary risks managed by derivative instruments are exposure to changes in interest rate The Com

pany accounts for its derivative instruments under the provisions of SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative

Instruments and Hedging Activities as amended SFAS No 133 requires the recognition of all derivative

instruments as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value

In accordance with SFAS No 133 on the date on which the Company enters into derivative it is

determined whether or not to designate the derivative as hedge The Company currently has one interest rate

swap outstanding that is not designated as hedge and thus recognizes the change in fair value through

earnings currently Although the interest rate swap is not considered hedge under the guidance of SFAS 133

they are believed to be hedges of the underlying economic exposure The change in fair value is included in

interest expense on the consolidated statement of operations

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for

financial reporting and income tax purposes valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce

deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized As of December 31 2008 no valuation allowances

were recorded For the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the effective tax rate was higher than

the statutory tax rate primarily due to the effect of the change in derivative liabilities since such losses are not

deductible for income tax purposes

In January 2007 the Company adopted FIN 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an Inter

pretation of FASB Statement No 109 which provides criteria for the recognition measurement presentation

and disclosure of uncertain tax positions tax benefit from an uncertain position may be recognized only if it

is more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits

Advertising

Advertising costs are charged to operations selling general and administrative expenses when incurred

and amounted to $21518960 for 2008 and $12063028 for the period from May 21 2007 inception to

December 31 2007 On pro forma basis advertising costs for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006

were $22009890 and $20499312 respectively

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements

and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ

from those estimates
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SMART BALANCE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist

principally of cash cash equivalents short term investments and trade receivables The Company maintains

the majority of its cash and cash equivalents in the form of demand deposits with financial institutions that

management believes are creditworthy At December 31 2008 the cash balances in these institutions exceeded

federally insured amounts Concentrations of credit risk relative to trade receivables are limited due to our

diverse client base The Company does have one customer that accounted for approximately 20% of sales for

2008 The aggregate accounts receivable from this customer amounted to approximately 16% of the accounts

receivable balance outstanding at December 31 2008 The Company also has one product cateogory

spreads which accounts for 75% of total revenue and 73% of its revenues came from license from Bran

deis University

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2008 the Emerging Issues Tax Force EITF issued EITF 07-5 Determining Whether an

Instrument or Embedded Feature is Indexed to an Entitys Own Stock This EITF which will become

effective in the first quarter of 2009 will require that company which has an instrument that is determined to

be derivative under this guidance to take an initial charge as an adjustment to opening retained earnings and

thereafter reflect any adjustment in the market price through the income statement The Company has made

the determination that the adoption of EITF 07-5 will not have an impact on the Company

In March 2008 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 161 Disclosure about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

an amendment of FASB No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities SFAS

No 161 requires increased qualitative quantitative and credit risk disclosures but does not change the scope

or accounting requirements of FASB No 133 SFAS No 161 is effective for financial statements issued and

interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 The Company is evaluating the impact of this

amendment

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 revised 2007 Business Combinations SFAS
14 1R which replaces FASB Statement No 141 SFAS 14 1R establishes principles and requirements for

how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabili

ties assumed any non controlling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired and establishes that

acquisition costs will be generally expensed as incurred This statement also establishes disclosure require

ments which will enable users to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination SFAS

141R is effective as of the beginning of an entitys fiscal year that begins after December 15 2008 The

adoption of SFAS 141R will not have an impact on the Companys financial statements

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statement amendments of ARB No 51 SFAS No 160 states that accounting and reporting for minority

interests will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as component of equity SFAS

No 160 also establishes reporting requirements that provide sufficient disclosures that clearly identify and

distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners This statement is

effective as of the beginning of an entitys first fiscal year beginning after December 15 2008 The adoption

of SFAS No 160 will not have an impact on the Companys financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities Including an amendment of FASB Statement No 115 SFAS No 159 provides for an

election to expand the use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards which require assets

or liabilities to be carried at fair value Under SFAS No 159 company may elect to use fair value to mea
sure accounts and loans receivable available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities equity method

investments accounts payable guarantees and issued debt Other eligible items include firm commitments for
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

financial instruments that otherwise would not be recognized at inception and non-cash warranty obligations

where warrantor is permitted to pay third party to provide the warranty goods or services If the use of

fair value is elected any upfront costs and fees related to the item must be recognized in earnings and cannot

be deferred e.g debt issue costs The fair value election is irrevocable and generally made on an instrument-

by-instrument basis even if company has similar instruments that it elects not to measure based on fair

value At the adoption date unrealized gains and losses on existing items for which fair value has been

elected are reported as cumulative adjustment to beginning retained earnings Subsequent to the adoption of

SFAS No 159 changes in fair value are recognized in earnings SFAS No 159 is effective for fiscal years

beginning after November 15 2007 The Company has elected to adopt SFAS No 159 on an instrument-by-

instrument basis effective January 2008

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following

December 31
2008

$3197872

394089

849471

331873

4773305

472663

$4300642

The following is summary of intangible assets and goodwill as of December 31 2008 and 2007

Gross Carrying
Amount

40000000

1000000

121152483

374885923

$537038406

Gross Carrying
Amount

40000000

1000000

121152483

374885923

$537038406

Net Carrying
Value

33534247

887065

350552 120801931

__________ _________
374885923

$6578688 $350552 $530109166

Net Carrying
Value

37534247

958904

121152483

__________
374885923

$534531557

December 31
2007

Software development costs 701249

Equipment 227473

Furniture and fixtures 653933

Leasehold improvements _________
270245

Gross assets 1852900

Less Accumulated depreciation
__________

47569

Property and equipment net $1805331

Depreciation expense
for the years ended December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 were $425094 and

$47569 respectively

Intangible Assets

Accumulated

Amortization

$6465753

112935

Adjustments

Patent technology

Supply relationship

Trademarks

Goodwill

December 31 2008

Patent technology

Supply relationship

Trademarks

Goodwill

December 31 2007

Accumulated

Amortization

$2465753

41096

$2506849

Adjustments

Adjustments to trademarks relate to legal settlement received of $367215 and serve to reduce related

costs previously capitalized Additional spending of $16663 during the period accounted for the difference

The amortization expense for the next five years is approximately $4.1 million in each year
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Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following

December 31 December 31
2008 2007

Accounts payable $16971060 $17866526

Accrued expenses 7966176 2488893

Total $24937236 $20355419

Long Term Debt

In conjunction with the GFA merger on May 21 2007 the Company entered into loan arrangement

with Banc of America Securities LLC and Bank of America N.A for $180 million in secured debt financing

consisting of $140 million first lien facility comprised of $120 million term loan and $20 million

revolver and second lien facility comprised of $40 million term loan The first lien facility is secured

by first lien on all of the Companys assets and the second lien facility is secured by second lien on all of

the Companys assets Through December 31 2008 the Company paid total of $90.5 million consisting of

$60.5 million in principal on its first lien term loan and $30.0 million on its second lien debt During the third

quarter of 2007 the Company made two quarterly principal payment requirements of $300000 During the

fourth quarter of 2007 the Company received approximately $76.5 million from the redemption of its public

warrants see note The Company used $39.9 million of this amount to prepay the next eight quarterly

principal payment requirements of $300000 and applied the balance against principal on the first lien term

loan During the first quarter of 2008 the Company used $30.0 million of that amount to pay down the sec

ond lien debt During the third and fourth quarters of 2008 the Company prepaid $5.0 million and $15.0

million respectively of the first lien debt using primarily cash flows from operations As result of the

prepayments the Company wrote off approximately $1450000 of deferred financing costs which is included

in other income net for the year ended December 31 2008 and $1174936 for the year ended December 31

2007

The term loan of the first lien facility will mature on May 21 2014 and the revolving loan under the first

lien facility will mature on May 21 2013 The term loan of the second lien facility will mature on

November 18 2014

The interest rate on the first lien facility is LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum begin

ning July 2007 In accordance with pricing grid based on the Companys leverage ratio the applicable

margin was reduced to 3.00%
per annum beginning March 28 2008 which resulted in an interest rate of

4.47% at December 31 2008 The interest rate on the second lien facility is LIBOR plus an applicable margin

of 6.00% per annum beginning July 2007 which resulted in an interest rate at December 31 2008 of

7.47%

The Company uses interest rate swaps to effectively manage interest rate exposure by locking in the

variable interest rate on our debt into fixed rate of 5.05% The Company recognizes the mark-to-market

movement of the interest rate swap in income as the rate changes Through December 31 2008 the Company

realized non-cash loss of $5.1 million which represents the present value of the future quarterly interest

payments through the end of the swap agreement of September 30 2010 based on the difference between the

three month LIBOR floating interest at December 31 2008 and the fixed interest rate of the debt of 5.05% on

$80 million notional amount At the end of each quarter the Company makes or receives quarterly cash

payments based on the actual difference between these two rates At December 31 2008 the Company has

opted to let the notional amount of the interest rate swap exceed the amount of its debt by approximately

$10.5 million assuming that the current interest rate environment would improve allowing the Company to

pay off the quarterly swap requirements on more favorable terms
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Long Term Debt continued

There is no prepayment penalty for optional prepayments see above on the first lien facility and the

following penalties for optional prepayments on the second lien facility 2.00% premium if prepaid the first

year 1.00% premium if prepaid the second year and no prepayment penalty thereafter As result of prepay

ing $30.0 million of the second lien facility the Company paid $0.6 million prepayment penalty which is

included in interest expense for the year
ended December 31 2008 Mandatory prepayments under the first

lien facility include 50% of excess cash flow as defined in the credit agreement and 50% of all net cash

proceeds from the issuance of additional equity interests by us After the first lien facility is re-paid in full the

second lien facility requires mandatory prepayments which include 50% of excess cash flow as defined in

the credit agreement and 50% of all net cash proceeds from the issuance of additional equity interests by us

In addition the term loan of the first lien facility is subject to quarterly amortization of principal with 1.00%

of the initial aggregate advances under such loan to be payable in each of the first six
years

and the remainder

of the initial aggregate advance to be payable in balloon payment at maturity

The first and second lien credit facilities can be accelerated upon the occurrence of certain events

including

nonpayment of debt including interest and fees

failure to perform or observe covenants

cross defaults to other indebtedness exceeding $5.0 million

bankruptcy and insolvency and

certain other events

The first lien credit facility requires that the Company

maintain ratio of Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the first lien credit facility to consolidated

cash interest charges of at least 3.00 to

leverage ratio for all Companys debt which restricts the Company from allowing its total debt to

be greater than 3.25 times its Consolidated EBITDAas defined in the first lien credit facility

stepping down to 2.25 to on December 31 2009 and

leverage ratio which restricts the Company from allowing its first lien debt to be greater than 2.25

times its Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the first lien credit facility stepping down to 1.25 to

on December 31 2009

The second lien credit facility contains one financial covenant consisting of leverage ratio for all debt

which restricts the Company from allowing its total debt to be greater than 3.75 times its Consolidated

EBITDA as defined in the second lien credit facility stepping down to 2.75 to on December 31 2009 The

Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants at December 31 2008

Under the terms of both credit facilities the Company is precluded from reacquiring its own shares

Long term debt as of December 31 2008 is as follows

First lien term loan $59504174

Second lien term loan 10000000

Total Debt 69504174

Less Current maturities

Total long term debt $69504174
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Long Term Debt continued

The Company is required to pay the following amounts in each of the next four years

2009

2010

2011

2012 157421

Thereafter $69346753

Total 69504174

Stock-Based Compensation

On October 19 2006 the compensation committee of the board of directors unanimously approved the

Companys Stock and Awards Plan which we refer to as the stock plan and directed it be submitted to the

stock holders for approval During special stockholders meeting on May 17 2007 the stock plan was

approved pursuant to which the Company reserved up to 9650000 shares of common stock for issuance to

its officers directors employees and consultants On May 21 2008 the Company after shareholder meeting

and vote amended the stock plan to increase the number of shares available for award to total of

12150000 During 2007 the Company granted options to purchase 8797500 shares of stock under the stock

plan During the twelve months ended December 31 2008 the Company granted options to purchase

2062500 shares of stock under the stock plan

During the first quarter of 2008 the compensation committee and sub-committee of the compensation

committee approved the issuance of up to 1375000 inducement stock options grants to new employees

outside of the Companys stock plan pursuant to NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4350 During the twelve months

ended December 31 2008 the Company issued all of the 1375000 inducement grant stock options to new

employees

The Company has two types of stock options traditional service-based with four year graded 25% vest

each year vesting and market condition-based stock options which vest when the underlying stock prices

reaches either $16.75 and $20.25 respectively and remains there for 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days

Stock options are granted to recipients at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the Companys
stock at the dates of grant and can consist solely of the service-based options or market conditions-based

options or can consist of combination of both types of options Stock options granted to employees have

term of 10 years The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service

period of the individual grants which generally equals the vesting period or as determined by the Monte

Carlo valuation model

Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Average

Outstanding Exercise Remaining
Shares Price Life Years

Shares at December 31 2006

Options granted 8797500 9.88 7.79

Options exercised

Options canceled/forfeited

Shares at December 31 2007 8797500 9.88 7.79

Options granted 3437500 8.39 7.65

Options exercised

Options canceled/forfeited 190000 10.03 7.45

Shares at December 31 2008 12045000 9.47 7.03
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Stock-Based Compensation continued

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards under SFAS No 123R Share-Based

Payment which requires companies to recognize compensation expense for all equity-based compensation

awards issued to employees that are expected to vest Compensation cost is based on the fair value of awards

as of the grant date

Pre-tax stock-based compensation expense
included in reported net income is as follows

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2008 2007

Service period-based 6855869 $3031911

Market price-based $16.75 4617248 2099688

Market price-based $20.25 3422823 1557878

Total $14895940 $6689477

For the traditional service-based stock options the Company estimated the fair value as of the date of

grant using Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions risk-free interest rate of

3.53% 4.67% expected life years
for the service-based options and 10 years for the market price-based

options no dividends and volatility of 35.9%-37.91% The cost of the service-based stock options is being

amortized over four year estimated vesting period In the case of the market price-based stock options the

Company used the Monte Carlo valuation model and the same assumptions noted above The Company recog

nizes compensation expense for the market price-based options over the estimated vesting period which has

been determined to be 2.75 4.82 years and 3.68-5.53 years for the $16.75 and $20.25 awards respectively

Notes Payable to Stockholders and Related Party Transactions

On February 15 2007 Stephen Hughes our founder and chief executive officer agreed to lend the

Company up to $500000 to cover operating expenses to be drawn as needed by the Company The loan had

interest at rate equal to the lowest applicable federal short term rate in effect pursuant to Section 1274d of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended as the same may be adjusted from time to time The total

amount owed on the loan and accrued interest of $4000 were repaid in full on June 19 2007

In June 2007 amounts owed to three Initial Stockholders for advances to the Company to cover expendi

tures for approximately $256000 were repaid without interest

The Company previously paid approximately $10000 month for office space and general and adminis

trative services to affiliates of two of the initial stockholders This arrangement terminated on May 21 2007

Certain stockholders five of whom are directors and one senior advisor purchased an aggregate of

1000000 warrants concurrently with the closing of the Companys initial public offering at price of

$1.70 per warrant from the Company The warrants are exercisable into common stock at $6.00 per share

10 Interest Rate Derivatives

In conjunction with the variable-rate debt arrangements noted above the Company entered into notional

$80000000 of interest rate swap agreement on August 16 2007 which is designed to provide constant

interest rate on the variable rate debt The swap agreement expires on September 30 2010 Under this swap

agreement the Company receives the difference between its fixed-rate interest payments and floating-rate

payments based on LIBOR The effect of this is to convert floating-rate interest expense based on LIBOR into

fixed-rate interest expense The arrangements require cash payment for the quarterly difference between

these two rates on the last day of each calendar quarter For the quarter ended December 31 2008 the Com

pany paid 5.05% and received 3.76% with the cost increasing interest expense by $263349 At December 31

2008 the cost to settle this agreement with the counterparty based on the current interest rate markets at
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10 Interest Rate Derivatives continued

December 31 2008 was $5132231 As of December 31 2008 $10495826 of interest rate swaps did not

have an underlying notional amount of debt exposure

11 License

substantial portion of the Companys business is dependent on its exclusive license of certain technol

ogy from Brandeis University This license agreement dated June 1996 imposes certain obligations upon the

Company such as diligently pursuing the development of commercial products under the licensed technology

The agreement for each country expires at the end of the term of each patent in such country and contains no

minimum commitments The amount of royalties due is based on formula of the percentage of oil and/or fat

utilized in the licensed products Should Brandeis believe that the Company has failed to meet its obligations

under the license agreement Brandeis could seek to limit or terminate the Companys license rights Royalties

earned by Brandeis in 2008 was approximately $943900 and from the date of our initial business combination

May 21 2007 until December 31 2007 were approximately $551800

12 Income Taxes

The components of the Companys income tax provision benefit for the years ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 are of the following

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2008 2007 2006

Income tax provision benefit

Current taxes

Federal 2473700 2205668 $1195120

State 558583 143802 168303

3032283 2061866 1363423

Deferred taxes

Federal $6025638 $2676515 510846

State 570198 91248 44437

6595836 2767763 555283

Benefit Provision for income taxes $3563553 705897 808140

The reconciliation of the provision for income taxes based on the U.S federal statutory income tax rate

to our provision for income taxes was as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2008 2007 2006

Expected federal statutory taxes at 34% $3685992 $22186348 $44l0147

Performance based shares released from

escrow 6274977

Derivative liabilities 15489107 5190591

Valuation allowance

Other 122439 283633 27696

Benefit Provision for income taxes $3563553 705897 808140
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12 Income Taxes continued

Deferred income tax assets or liabilities are computed based on the temporary differences between the

financial statement and income tax basis of assets and liabilities using the enacted marginal tax rate in effect

for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse Deferred income expenses or credits are based

on the changes in the deferred income tax assets or liabilities from period to period

December 31 December 31
2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Derivative liabilities 2003007

Deferred interest income

Stock compensation 8423168 2596654

Inventory 293824 546119

Deferred financing costs 827533 407590

Net operating loss carryforwards 44699 147693

Other 396956 838253

Total deferred tax assets 11989187 4536309

Deferred tax liabilities

Intangible assets 57301751 56743132

Other 305621 7196
Total deferred tax liabilities 57607372 56750328

Net deferred tax liability $45618185 $52214019

Deferred tax asset current 650100 1079509

Long-term deferred tax asset 11339087 3456800

Long-term deferred tax liability $57607372 $56750328

Net deferred tax liabilities $45618185 $52214019

The Company has state net operating loss NOL carryforwards at December 31 2008 of approxi

mately $0.8 million for income tax purposes which begin expiring in 2013 valuation allowance was not

established for the realization of deferred tax assets as the Company has determined that it is more likely than

not that the assets will be fully utilized

Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Companys tax positions and determining its provision

for income taxes During the ordinary course of business there are many transactions and calculations for

which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain The Company establishes reserves for tax-related uncertain

ties based on estimates of whether and the extent to which additional taxes will be due These reserves are

established when the Company believes that certain positions might be challenged despite its belief that the

Companys tax return positions are fully supportable The Company adjusts these reserves in light of changing

facts and circumstances such as the outcome of tax audits The provision for income taxes includes the

impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate Accruals for tax contin

gencies are provided for in accordance with the requirements of FIN 48 The Company has elected to retain

its existing accounting policy with respect to the treatment of interest and penalties attributable to income

taxes in accordance with FIN 48 and continues to reflect interest and penalties attributable to income taxes to

the extent they arise as component of its income tax provision or benefit as well as its outstanding income

tax assets and liabilities
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12 Income Taxes continued

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of

December 31 2008 was as follows

Gross balance at January 2008 823440

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

Additions for tax provision of prior years 19549

Deletions for tax positions of prior years 192481

Gross balance at December 31 2008 650508

Interest and penalties 308638

Balance at December 31 2008 959146

At December 31 2008 the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits excluding the federal benefit

received from state positions was $650508 Of this total $422830 net of the federal benefit on state issues

represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized would favorably affect the effective tax

rate in future periods The total amount of accrued interest and penalties resulting from such unrecognized tax

benefits was $308638 at December 31 2008

The Company recorded an adjustment to the gross balance of unrecognized tax benefits at May 21 2007

of $790000 comprised of FIN 48 liabilities in connection with the acquisition of GFA Brands Inc The

Company is unaware of any positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecog

nized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months

The IRS is currently examining the Companys 2005 federal income tax return The IRS is also examin

ing the 2007 short-period tax return which resulted in $4.7 million tax refund The Company expects

favorable outcome to this review Prior periods have either been audited or are no longer subject to IRS audit

In most state jurisdictions the Company is no longer subject to examination by tax authorities for years prior

to 2003

13 Leases

Rental expense under operating leases for 2008 was $509411 and from the date of our initial business

combination May 21 2007 until December 31 2007 was $157049 Future minimum lease commitments

under non-cancelable operating leases during each of the next four years and thereafter are as follows

Years Ending December 31

2009 513403

2010 577195

2011 606714

2012 572535

Thereafter 1242157

$3512004

14 Commitments and Contingencies

The following table summarizes contractual obligations and borrowings as of December 31 2008 and the

timing and effect that such commitments are expected to have on our liquidity and capital requirements in

future periods We expect to fund other commitments primarily with operating cash flows generated in the

normal course of business
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14 Commitments and Contingencies continued

Contractual Obligations

Due in Less Due Due More than

Total than Year Years Years Years

Building Leases 3695786 559349 $1275800 $1132476 728161

Oil and Peanuts Purchase

Commitments2 38621982 38621982

Debt Obligations3 69504174
__________

787092 68717082

$111821942 $39181331 $1275800 $1919568 $69445243

Includes lease agreement for the lease of corporate office facility located in Paramus NJ with an

approximate seven year
life with the option to extend the lease for two additional five year terms and

ii three lease agreements for the lease of corporate office facility located in Niwot Colorado with an

approximate five
year

life with the option to extend each lease for 36 months

Forward purchase commitments for portion of the Companys projected requirement for peanuts and for

palm soy
and canola oil These commitments may be stated at firm price or as discount or premium

from future commodity market price Based on the most recent prices the Company expects these

commitments would total approximately $38.6 million as of December 31 2008 The commitments are

expected to be liquidated by September 30 2009

For more information on our debt obligations see the section entitled Long-Term Debt located else

where in these notes to financial statements

Legal Proceedings

We are currently involved in the following legal proceedings

In 2007 three parties filed Oppositions to European Patent No 820307 relating to increasing the HDL
level and the HDL/LDL ratio in Human Serum by Balancing Saturated and Polyunsaturated Dietary Fatty

Acids We believe that neither this proceeding nor its outcome will have any adverse effect on our current

business

We are not party to any other legal proceeding that we believe would have material adverse effect on

our business results of operations or financial condition

15 Selected Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

The following table presents certain unaudited quarterly results for the years 2008 and 2007

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Full Year

2008 2008 2008 2008 2008

Revenues $50789855 $47989930 $57531521 $65560606 $221871912

Operating income loss 1960108 500583 2575329 1658793 5693647

Net loss $l177366 $1535425 $l614073 $2640989 6967853

Less unpaid dividends on

cumulative preferred stock

Net loss available for common

shares $l177366 $1535425 $1614073 $2640989 6967853

Loss per share diluted 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.04 0.11

Diluted weighted average

common shares outstanding 62196988 62630683 62630683 62630683 62523742
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15 Selected Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited continued

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Full Year

2007 2007 2007 2007 2007

Revenues $18675769 41502575 50859951 111038295

Operating income loss 347277 636526 915226 12654367 11449892

Net loss $7197132 $13654027 $33007575 $10689334 64548068

Less unpaid dividends on

cumulative preferred stock
__________

1244603 2817868 33096540 37159011

Net loss available for common

shares 7197132 $14898629 $35825443 $43785874 101707079

Loss per share diluted 0.50 071 1.25 1.27 4.12

Diluted weighted average

common shares outstanding 14355945 20848447 28766133 34433180 24667344

During the first quarter of 2008 the Company changed its method of accounting for certain trade incen

tives and marketing costs and began deferring portion of such items as prepaid expenses in proportion to

forecasted revenues for the year This change enhances the matching of the Companys expenses with rev

enues Additionally this change provides better comparability to the Companys industry peers most of whom

defer portion of trade incentives and marketing costs as prepaid expenses earlier in the year and recognize

those expenses in subsequent quarters in line with actual revenue earned While this methodology may create

timing differences between quarters in 2007 as previously reported it had no impact on the full
year

results

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 154 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

requires that change in accounting principle be retrospectively applied to all prior periods presented Accord

ingly the quarterly results for 2007 shown above were changed to reflect this change

16 Stockholders Equity

Private Placement

In connection with the GFA merger the Company entered into private placement transaction for com

mon stock and Series convertible preferred stock together with investor warrants pursuant to Securities

Purchase Agreement dated September 25 2006 as amended by letter agreement dated February 15 2007

The Agreement included 14410188 shares of common stock and 15388889 shares of Series convertible

preferred stock along with warrants The net proceeds of approximately $246 million received by the Com

pany were used to fund portion of the GFA merger acquisition costs

Series Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company forced the conversion of its Series convertible preferred stock into common stock on

January 2008 see note Dividends on the Series convertible preferred stock were cumulative and

compounded from May 21 2007 at the annual rate of 8% multiplied times the $9.00 per share purchase

price The Series convertible preferred stock was convertible at any time at the option of the holder into

the number of shares of common stock arrived at by dividing $9.00 per share which was the initial conver

sion price into the
per

share liquidation preference of $9.00 per share plus accrued but unpaid dividends To

the extent that dividends accrued but were not paid the number of shares of common stock issuable upon

conversion of the Series convertible preferred stock increased

Conversion of all or portion of but not less than 20% of the then outstanding Series convertible

preferred stock was mandatory at the conversion price then in effect upon the first to occur of

the election to convert by holders of at least majority of the Series convertible preferred stock

or
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16 Stockholders Equity continued

the Companys election to force conversion if registration statement for the resale of the

common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series convertible preferred stock was effective

ii the Company had also elected to redeem all the public warrants that we sold in the Companys

initial public offering and iii the last sales price of the Companys common stock had been at least

$11.50 per share on each of 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period

When the Company elected to exercise its right to force conversion within three years of the date of

original issuance the number of shares of common stock issued on conversion was calculated assuming that

the redemption occurred on the last date of the dividend period to occur on or after such third-year

anniversary

Common Shares in Escrow

All of the shares of the Companys common stock outstanding prior to the date of its initial public offer

ing were placed in escrow with an escrow agent Of the 3190210 shares held in escrow 1595105 were

released on October 11 2007 because the last sales price of the Companys common stock was at least

$11.50 per share for 20 out of 30 trading days which was condition to the release of one-half of the shares

The Company recorded charge to earnings in the fourth quarter of 2007 of $18455815 as all of the shares

were held by officers directors and related parties The charges were based on the price of common stock of

$12.31 on the date the above conditions were met The remaining 1595105 shares in escrow were released

on December16 2008 Since these shares were released based on passage of time no charge to earnings was

required to be made

Redemption of Public Warrants

During December 2007 the Company received approximately $76.5 million from the redemption of its

public warrants The Company paid down approximately $40 million of its first lien debt as it was required to

use one-half of the proceeds of the public warrant redemption to pay off portion of its term loan
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Stephen Hughes certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Smart Balance Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact

necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with

respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in

this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made

known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based

on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially

affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the

equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial

information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27 2009 By/s/ Stephen Hughes

Stephen Hughes

Chairman of the Board and ChiefExecutive Officer

Principal executive officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

Alan Gever hereby certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Smart Balance Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact

necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with

respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in

this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made

known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based

on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially

affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the

equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial

information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27 2009 By /5/ Alan Gever

Alan Gever

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal financial officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Subsections and of Section 1350

Chapter 63 of Title 18 United States Code

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 subsections and of section 1350 chapter 63 of title 18 United

States Code the undersigned officer of Smart Balance Inc Delaware corporation the Company does hereby certify to such

officers knowledge that

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 the Form 10-K of the Company fully complies with the

requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-K fairly

presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date February 27 2009 By/s/ Stephen Hughes

Stephen Hughes

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Principal executive officer

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the

Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Subsections and of Section 1350

Chapter 63 of Title 18 United States Code

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 subsections and of section 1350 chapter 63 of title 18 United

States Code the undersigned officer of Smart Balance Inc Delaware corporation the Company does hereby certif to such

officers knowledge that

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 the Form 10-K of the Company filly complies with the

requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-K fairly

presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date February 27 2009 By /s/ Alan Gever

Alan Gever

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

Principal financial officer

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the

Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request
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